
Please ask for Shelley French: Telephone 01775 764451 
e-mail: sfrench@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING 
AUTHORITY

Date & Time - Wednesday, 10 February 2016 at 6.35 pm or 
immediately following the conclusion of the 
Licensing Committee, whichever is the later. 

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Committee of the Licensing Authority:

Councillors: F Biggadike, T A Carter, A Casson, M G Chandler, R Clark (Vice-Chairman), 
G K Dark, A Harrison (Chairman), J L King, C J Lawton, J Tyrrell, M D Booth, H Drury, 
A M Newton, M J Pullen and S A Sneath

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   2 February 2016



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Declaration of interests:

Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain and a result of a grant 
of dispensation.

3. Minutes:

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 26 
November 2015. 

(Pages 
1 - 4)

4. Licensing Protocol:

The Portfolio Holder for Strategy, Governance and Public Protection to 
lead a discussion on the Protocol on Good Practice in Licensing for 
Members and Officers Dealing with Licensing Issues (copy is attached).  
Members are reminded that this document is currently under review 
after the adoption of a new Constitution at 20 January 2016 meeting of 
full Council.  

(Pages 
5 - 10)

5. Licensing Authority update:

Licensing and Business Support Manager to be in attendance to provide 
an update to the Committee on matters which fall under the remit of the 
Licensing Authority. 

6. Revised Statement of Principles (Gambling Act 2005):

To give consideration to the draft revised ‘Statement of Principles’ and 
refer to full Council for adoption (Report of the Executive Manager 
Public Protection is enclosed). 

(Pages 
11 - 
102)

7. Panel arrangements:

At the request of the Chairman to  the Committee to discuss 
arrangements for Panel hearings. 

8. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent: 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  



- 6 -

Minutes of a meeting of the COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY held in  
Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Thursday, 26 November 
2015 at 6.57 pm.

PRESENT

A Harrison (Chairman) 

T A Carter
A Casson

M G Chandler
J Tyrrell

 

In Attendance:  The Interim Licensing and Business Support Manager and the 
Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors F Biggadike, 
R Clark, G K Dark, J L King and C J Lawton.

Action By
7. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were none. 

8. MINUTES 

 Members considered the minutes of the meeting held on 8 July 
2015.  It was noted that at item 6, within the first full paragraph on 
page 5, the following references were incorrect:

 Both references to PSPO should be replaced by DPPO
 Reference to Cumulative Impact Zone should be replaced by 

PSPO

The paragraph should therefore be amended to read as follows:

Currently, certain areas within Spalding Town Centre were 
covered by a DPPO (Designated Public Place Order) which was 
due to expire in October 2017, it was hoped that a PSPO (Public 
Spaces Protection Order) would be in place prior to the DPPO’s 
expiration.

DECISION:

That, subject to the wording of the paragraph at minute item 6 
being amended to read as follows, the minutes of the meeting 
held on 8 July 2015 be signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record:

‘Currently, certain areas within Spalding Town Centre were 
covered by a DPPO (Designated Public Place Order) which was 
due to expire in October 2017, it was hoped that a PSPO (Public 

SF 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3.



- 7 -

COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING 
AUTHORITY - 26 November 2015

Spaces Protection Order) would be in place prior to the DPPO’s 
expiration’. 

9. REVISED STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY (LICENSING 
ACT 2003) 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Public 
Protection Manager which included a draft revised Statement of 
Licensing Policy for comment by the Committee, prior to its 
adoption by full Council.

South Holland District Council is the Licensing Authority under the 
provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 for the retail sale of alcohol, 
the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club, the provision of 
regulated entertainment and the provision of late night 
refreshment within the district.

Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 required the Licensing 
Authority to prepare and publish a statement of its Licensing 
Policy at least every five years.  The Policy should also be kept 
under review by the Licensing Authority, and revisions made as 
considered appropriate. In order to comply with the legislative 
requirements, the current Statement of Licensing Policy had to be 
reviewed, revised and published by 7 January 2016.  The current 
Statement of Licensing Policy and the draft revised Licensing 
Policy were attached to the report at Appendix A and B 
respectively.

A review of the current statement of Licensing Policy had been 
completed by the Interim Licensing and Business Support 
Manager, and this had been consulted on with a required list of 
persons, as detailed in Section 5(3) of the Licensing Act 2003.  A 
list of consultees was appended to the report at Appendix C.

The Committee was advised that the Home Office had issued 
guidance in October 2015 on the deregulation of the licensable 
activity of late night refreshments.  A decision to make an 
exemption for late night refreshment was one that would require 
inclusion in the statement of Licensing Policy, and be subject to 
the statutory consultation process.  Therefore, in addition to 
reviewing the draft Licensing Policy, the Committee was asked to 
also consider whether it wished to make changes with regard to 
exemptions for late night refreshment.

Councillors considered the information provided, and the following 
suggested changes were made, in relation to the re-drafted 
Licensing Policy Statement:

Page 2



- 8 -

COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING 
AUTHORITY - 26 November 2015

 Reference was made throughout the document to a number of 
guidance notes and practices that licensees should adopt.  
The Safer Spalding Good Practice Code for Premises 
however was not referred to at all, and it should be.

 Section 1.1 - Reference was made to updated census figures 
however, the size of the area was referred to in square 
kilometres/miles rather than hectares, as used in the previous 
Policy. The Interim Licensing and Business Support Manager 
advised that this was the format that the information had been 
available in.

 Page numbering was incorrect on the page where Section 4 
was laid out.

 Section 5.8, third bullet point – What was meant by ‘levels of 
door supervision’? It was felt that the wording was too loose 
and that expectations should be clarified.     

 Section 5.17 – ninth bullet point, incorrect spelling. Change 
from ‘citing’ to ‘siting’.

 Individual points should be numbered rather than using bullet 
points – this would make them easier to refer to.

 Section 5.19 – ‘When deciding whether to limit access to 
children or not, the Licensing Authority will judge each 
application on its own individual merits’ – In response to 
Councillors questioning whether this was a question for the 
Licensing Authority, the Interim Licensing and Business 
Support Manager clarified that this point related to limiting 
children’s access to certain events, e.g. access to a show that 
had adult content.

 Section 5.25 – It was felt that reference to adult staff was too 
limiting.  It was agreed that ‘adult staff’ should be changed to 
‘adult supervision’.

 Reference needed to be made with regard to provision of First 
Aid.  

 It was felt that Sections 5.27 and 5.34 should be merged into 
one

 Section 6 (Cumulative Impact) – Off-sales issues needed to be 
added to the list at section 6.1.

 The font for the whole document should be ‘Arial’.  It was 
noted that the front cover of the draft document was in a 
different font and should be changed.

The Committee acknowledged the work that had gone into the 
production of the document, and thanked Officers.  

The Committee also agreed that with regard to the de-regulation 
of late night refreshment, it should remain regulated.

Page 3



- 9 -

COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING 
AUTHORITY - 26 November 2015

DECISION:

a) That the revised Statement of Licensing Policy be considered 
for approval by the full Council, with inclusion of the 
amendments made by the Committee of the Licensing 
Authority, as detailed within these minutes; and

b) That in relation to the de-regulation of late night refreshment, 
no changes be made and that it remain regulated within the 
South Holland area.  

CM 

CM 

10. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

The Chairman advised of some information that she felt the 
Committee would find useful.  Members were provided with a 
copy of both of these issues - Questioning and Lessons from 
Rotherham.   Committee members not at the meeting would be 
provided with copies.

The Interim Licensing and Business Support Manager reported 
that, with regard to Safeguarding issues, training was being 
provided to taxi drivers.  Arrangements would be made to provide 
Committee members with this training so that they were aware of 
the issues being covered, 

CM 

SF CM 

(The meeting ended at 7.50 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 4



Protocol on Good Practice in Licensing for Members and Officers Dealing 
with Licensing Issues

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 have put local authorities firmly at the centre of 
decision making upon licences for regulated entertainment, the provision of alcohol, late night 
refreshment and the Licensing of Gambling Establishments and Small Lotteries.

1.2 This Protocol aims to enable councillors to represent their constituents, whether they be residents, 
local businesses etc.  by acting as ‘interested parties’ at licensing hearings. By following this 
protocol, Members will help to avoid accusations of pre-determination, bias or maladministration.

1.3 The role of Elected Members as part of the Licensing Committee will involve balancing the multiple 
needs and interests of the local community, whilst prioritising the four Licensing Objectives of the 
Licensing Act 2003 and the three Objectives of the Gambling Act 2005.  In doing so the Elected 
Member must maintain his/her impartiality and, as public perception of probity is critical, his/her 
appearance of impartiality too, during the decision making process.  This protocol is intended to 
ensure that this is achieved.

1.4 This protocol is part of the Council’s Constitution and all members and officers are expected to 
comply strictly with its provisions.  Any breach of the protocol will be referred to the Monitoring 
Officer.  If the breach is also a breach of the Code of Conduct for Members the matter will be dealt 
with accordingly.

1.5 This protocol is in addition to and takes account of the ethical framework introduced by the Local 
Government Act 2000 (as amended).

1.6 This protocol can be changed at any time by resolution of Council.

2.0 GENERAL ROLE AND CONDUCT OF COUNCILLORS AND OFFICERS

2.1 Councillors and officers have different but complimentary roles.  Both serve the public but 
councillors are responsible to the electorate, whilst officers are responsible to the Council as a 
whole.  The Council’s reputation as a successful Licensing Authority can only be based upon a 
mutual trust between councillors and officers and an understanding of each others positions.  This 
relationship and the trust which it underpins must never be abused or compromised.

2.2 Legislation emphasises the overriding requirement that the public are entitled to expect the highest 
standards of conduct and probity by all persons holding public office and in particular that when 
dealing with licensing matters only issues relating to the licensing objectives are taken into account 
and when dealing with gambling matters only issues relating to the three gambling objectives are 
taken into account.  There are statutory provisions and codes setting standards which must be 
followed if the public perception of the integrity of public service is to be maintained and improved.

2.3 Members must comply with the provisions of the Code of Conduct for Members which has been 
adopted by the Council and which sets out the required standards of conduct for councillors.  The 
Code not only covers issues central to the preservation of an ethical approach to council business 
but also appropriate relationships with other members, staff and the public which will impact on the 
way in which members participate in the licensing process.  Of particular relevance to councillors 
serving on the Licensing Committee and Panels is the provision which says:

“SELFLESSNESS: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. They 
should not do so in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family or 
their friends”.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.



Part 5, Section 6 Page 1

2.4 Officers involved in the processing and determination of licensing matters must act in accordance 
with the Council's Code of Conduct for Employees.

2.5 Despite the provisions of the Code of Conduct for Members and the Code of Conduct for 
Employees, Members and officers involved in licensing matters should not accept any gifts or 
hospitality.  If, however, a degree of hospitality is unavoidable it should be ensured that such 
hospitality is minimal and its receipt is declared as soon as possible.  Members and officers should 
notify the Monitoring Officer of such hospitality.  In all cases details must be entered in:

 the Members' Register of Interests; or
 the Officers' Register of Gifts and Hospitality.

2.6 Officers must always act impartially.

2.7 The Council is committed to a culture of continuous improvement in all of its services and will 
ensure that officers and Members involved in the licensing process receive proper 
training/development to ensure that they are able to undertake their respective roles.

2.8 Members will be required to attend initial training / development sessions when first serving on the 
Licensing Committee (normally within three months of appointment).  Refresher training will be 
offered to members every year, and members will be required to attend.  Members who do not 
participate in training will be excluded from serving on Licensing Panels determining licensing 
applications and other associated matters until the requirement has been met.

2.9 In addition to on-going training / development sessions, Members will be updated    regularly on 
changes to legislation, procedures and practices.

2.10 Training / development courses will continue to be provided from time to time to ensure that 
Members maintain the necessary skills and expertise to fulfil the licensing functions to the best of 
their ability and in accordance with all relevant requirements.

2.11 Members of the Licensing Committee may be asked to serve on a Panel and will be required to 
attend all training / development sessions as detailed above. 

3.0 REGISTRATION AND DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

3.1 Members and officers undertaking the Council’s licensing functions have a duty to act fairly and 
without bias at all times and to be seen to be so doing.  All steps should therefore be taken to 
ensure that their actions do not infer impropriety of any sort.

3.2 The Localism Act 2011 and the Code of Conduct for Members place requirements on members 
about the registration and declaration of their interests and the consequences for the member’s 
participation in the consideration of an issue, in the light of those interests.  These requirements 
must be followed scrupulously and members should review their situation regularly.  Guidance on 
the registration and declaration of interests may be sought from the Council’s Monitoring Officer, 
although ultimate responsibility for fulfilling the requirements rests individually with each member.

3.3 A Register of Members’ Interests is maintained by the Monitoring Officer and is available for public 
inspection and on the Council’s website.  A Member must provide the Monitoring Officer with 
written details of any disclosable pecuniary interests within 28 days of election or appointment to 
office.  Any changes to those interests must be similarly notified within 28 days of the Member 
becoming aware of such changes.

3.4 The Members' Code of Conduct requires that a Member who has declared a disclosable pecuniary 
interest must not participate in the discussion and voting on the matter.

3.5 A disclosable pecuniary interest is defined in section 2.2 of the Code of Conduct for Member which 
can be found in the Council’s Constitution. 

Page 6



Part 5, Section 6 Page 2

A non-committee Member who has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a licensing matter may sit in 
the public gallery whilst the matter is being considered however they must not seek to influence the 
decision and should not lobby other members on the matter.

4.0 LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEES / PANELS – BIAS AND PREDETERMINATION

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 Bias has been defined as “an attitude of mind which prevents the decision-maker from making an 
objective determination of the issues that he/she has to resolve”.  The important concept as 
regards bias is that there is no need for proof of actual or potential bias for there to be ‘procedural 
impropriety’ shown.  It is sufficient that there is an appearance of bias.  Accordingly, the test for 
bias is ‘whether a fair-minded and informed observer, having considered the facts, would conclude 
that there was a real possibility of bias’.

4.1.2 Further, where the decision to be made is quasi-judicial, as at Licensing Panels, the key issue to 
ensure the legality of the decision is to consider whether there may be a “public perception of a 
probability of unconscious bias”.  This brings into consideration the previous dealings of 
Members of the Licensing Panel and views expressed by them.  Members should therefore avoid 
participating as a Member of a Licensing Panel where previous voting or statements of belief may 
alter that “objective impression conveyed”.  

4.1.3 ‘Bias’ also includes the situation where it is felt that the decision-maker has pre-determined the 
case upon his/her own prejudices.  In the local government context, the most obvious example of 
pre-determination is where the impression is clearly given to persons (such as members of the 
public or a lobbyist) beyond conveying a mere pre-disposition, that ‘the Member or authority will 
approach the matter with a closed mind and without impartial consideration of all relevant issues. 
In short, to avoid a claim of pre-determination, you must be able to say with honesty that your mind 
is open and that you will determine the matter on the evidence, regardless of any pre-dispostion 
that you may have conveyed.

4.1.4 To help avoid accusations of pre-determination and ensure that Ward Members are free to 
represent their constituents as ‘interested parties’, Ward Members will not sit on Licensing Panels 
where that Panel is considering an application in that member’s ward.

4.2 Difference between the disclosable pecuniary interests provisions of the Code of Conduct, 
and Bias at Common Law

4.2.1 Bias at common law and disclosable pecuniary interests under the  South Holland District Council 
Code of Conduct for Members are related but do differ as concepts and in their effect.  Although 
the wording and apparent objectives are similar, the test for common law bias has a lower 
threshold.  Bias at common law includes those areas where the potential Licensing Panel Member 
has created a real danger of a perception that s/he has prevented him or herself from being able to 
make an impartial determination of the issues.  This is also known as fettering one’s discretion.  
Interests under the Code of Conduct, however, only concern themselves with the definition of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest under the Code of Conduct.

4.2.2 In terms of effects, a Member who has a disclosable pecuniary interest may not take part in the 
Licensing Panel or attend the hearing at all. Whereas, a Member who has fettered his/her 
discretion through common-law bias may not sit as part of the Licensing Panel but may act on 
behalf of (or as) an ‘interested party’.

5.0 APPLICATIONS SUBMITTED BY THE LOCAL AUTHORITY

5.1 The Council could apply for their own Premises Licences.  Such applications must be, and be seen 
to be, dealt with fairly.  During such an application process it is therefore important to be aware of 
any potential appearance of bias.

Page 7



Part 5, Section 6 Page 3

6.0 LOBBYING OF/BY COUNCILLORS

6.1 Local democracy:  The Licensing Act 2003 and The Gambling Act 2005 set out the grounds for 
making representations on licence applications and limits the parties which may make such 
representations.  It should be borne in mind that one of the key aims of he Licensing Act 2003 and 
the Gambling Act 2005 is to localise decision making or ‘democratise’ the process and members 
are therefore legitimately concerned with their locality and the needs/wishes of its constituents, 
including both the needs for entertainment and employment, as well as the undesirability of crime 
and public nuisance.  Local councillors can either sit as part of the Licensing Committee/Panel or 
can represent the interests of their constituents by acting as ‘interested parties’, as long as they do 
not have any disclosable pecuniary interest in the matter.

6.2.1 The Code of Conduct:  If the matter to be decided at a licensing hearing relates to the member’s 
membership of a lobby or campaign group, an interest should be declared in line with the Nolan 
Principles detailed within the Code of Conduct.  This might, for example, include a situation where 
the Member is part of a campaign group which promotes rural pubs and the licence application 
requests a licence for such a premise.  Whilst the Code of Conduct does not require the Member to 
withdraw from the meeting unless there is also a disclosable pecuniary interest, so as to avoid 
perceptions of bias in such a situation the Member shall not sit on the Panel determining the 
application.  However, this would not preclude the Member attending the meeting either as the 
licence applicant, or being/representing an ‘interested party’.

6.3 Clearly, if the interest is also a disclosable pecuniary one then the Member must not be present in 
the meeting in any form.  Should s/he be the licence applicant or be/represent an ‘interested party’ 
then an agent should be utilised at the meeting instead, to present the member’s views.

6.4 It should be noted that regulatory matters such as planning and licensing, are particularly sensitive. 
Members should adopt a particularly cautious approach to such matters.

6.5 Appearance of bias:  Whilst lobbying of members is legitimate and certain members may make 
representations to the Licensing Committee/Panel on behalf of ‘interested parties’, it is crucial for 
the Licensing Authority and its Committee/Panel to ensure that there is neither actual nor an 
appearance of bias in its decision making.

6.6 To avoid an appearance of bias:

 No Member sitting on the Licensing Panel can represent one of the interested parties or the 
applicant.  If s/he wishes to do so s/he must excuse him/herself from membership of the Panel 
which is considering the application and address the Panel as an ‘interested party’ or as the 
applicant’s representative/witness.

 If a Member who sits on the Licensing Panel is approached by persons wishing to lobby 
him/her as regards the licence application then that Member must politely explain that they 
cannot discuss the matter and refer the lobbyist to his/her Ward Member or the Licensing 
Officer who can explain the process of decision making.  If the Member who sits on the 
Licensing Panel wishes to represent them then s/he will need to excuse him/herself from the 
Licensing Panel.

 Members who are part of the Licensing Panel must avoid expressing personal opinions prior to 
Licensing Panel’s decision.  To do so may indicate that the Member has made up his/her mind 
before hearing all the evidence and that their decision may not be based upon the Licensing 
Objectives nor the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Licensing under the Licensing Act 2003 
or Statement of Principles under the Gaming Act 2005.

 Political group meetings should never be used to decide how any members on the Licensing 
Sub Committee / Panel should vote.  The view of the Ombudsman is that using political whips 
in this manner may well amount to findings of maladministration.

Page 8



Part 5, Section 6 Page 4

 Councillors must not be members of the Licensing Committee/Panel if they are involved in 
campaigning on the particular application.

 Other members (ie those which do not sit on the Licensing Sub Committee / Panel) need to be 
careful when discussing issues relating to matters which may come before the Licensing Panel 
members as this can easily be viewed as bias/pressure and may well open that Panel Member 
to accusations of such.

 Members must not pressurise Licensing Officers to make any particular decisions or 
recommendations as regards applications (such as the ability to decide whether a 
representation is frivolous or vexatious).

6.7 It should be noted that a Member for a ward, which would be directly affected by the application, is 
most at risk to being accused of bias.  Such members are also most likely to be put under pressure 
to represent local ‘interested parties’ (i.e. objectors/supporters) or indeed ‘responsible authorities’ 
as regards a licence application.  It is for this reason that, whilst there are no statutory 
requirements for ward members to excuse themselves from such licence application Panels 
(unless they have an interest), members whose ward includes the application, or whose ward is 
likely to be affected by the application, will not sit on the Licensing Panel considering the 
application but s/he may wish to act as/or represent an ‘interested party’.

7.0 PRE-APPLICATION/PRE-DECISION DISCUSSIONS

7.1 Discussions between the licence applicant and the Licensing Authority prior to the submission of 
an application (or prior to a decision being made) are often helpful to both parties.  For example, a 
premises licence applicant may ask for advice on how to complete an ‘operating schedule’.  
However, these discussions can often be viewed by objectors as a form of lobbying’ and the 
Authority must ensure it is not open to accusations of appearance of bias.  Accordingly Licensing 
Panel members should ensure that they do NOT take part in any pre-application/pre-decision 
discussions and that applicants are referred to the Licensing Officer.

8.0 ROLE OF THE LICENSING OFFICER

8.1 Licensing Officers have no ability under the Gambling Act 2005 to make representations or to be 
party to the hearing. This is different for the Licensing Act 2003 as the Licensing Officer or 
members of the licensing team can act as a responsible authority on behalf of the Licensing 
Authority. If this happens segregation needs to take place between the two roles and for this 
process to be transparent. 

  There is no legal provision for Licensing Officers to make recommendations to the Licensing Panel 
in terms of the outcome of the Committee hearing as is seen in planning cases.  However, a 
summary report of the application, the representations, and the Officer’s comments as to how 
these relate to the Licensing Act 2003, the Gambling Act 2005 and the Guidance and the local 
Licensing Policy Statement and/or Gambling Statement of Principles, may be provided.

9.0 DECISION MAKING

9.1 Reasons for decisions made must be clearly documented so that those affected can understand 
why the decision was reached.  It is critical that it is clear that decisions are made according to the 
Licensing Objectives of the Licensing Act 2003 and The Gambling Act 2005 as well as the 
Licensing Authority’s Licensing Policy Statement and Gambling Statement of Principles.  Whilst the 
Government’s Guidance accompanying the Licensing Act 2003 indicates some other factors which 
may influence decisions (eg live music/cultural considerations) these will always be subservient to 
the Licensing Objectives and the Licensing Policy Statement and Statement of Principles.  

Page 9



Part 5, Section 6 Page 5

10.0 SITE VISITS

10.1 A Member of the Licensing Panel appointed to consider a licensing application may request a site 
visit.  A request must be in writing and state the reasons for requesting a site visit which shall be 
because:

 a site visit would assist the Licensing Panel to assess the impact that the premises might have 
on premises of interested parties and the submitted plans are not capable of doing this;

 a site visit would enable the Panel to assess the internal layout of premises and the submitted 
plans are not capable of doing this; and,

 of other exceptional circumstances that the Licensing Officer considers appropriate.

10.2 On the request of a Panel Member the Licensing Officer will decide whether or not to hold a site 
visit after consultation with the other two Panel members.

10.3 When a site visit is to be undertaken they shall be conducted in the following way:

 The Licensing Officer will, where necessary, make arrangements for the inspection of the 
premises with the applicant;

 The site visit will be “chaired” by the Panel Chairman, but it will not be a formal meeting;

 Licensing Officers will attend to advise and answer questions;

 At arrival at the site members will receive an introductory briefing from the Licensing Officer 
about the site, the proposal and the reason for the visit;

 Members will view the application site and the submitted plans;

 On site discussions will relate solely to the purpose of the inspection.  Formal consideration of 
all the issues relevant to the application takes place at the Panel hearing;

 No communication will take place between members and those other parties.  There will be no 
discussion on the merits or otherwise of the application; and

 Members who have not been able to attend the site visit will not be able to participate in the 
Panel hearing.

Page 10



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Phil Adams - Executive Public Protection Manager

To: Committee of the Licensing Authority – 10 February 2016

(Author: Donna Hall – Licensing & Business Support Manager)

Subject: Revised Statement of Principles (Gambling Act 2005)

Purpose: To give consideration to the draft revised ‘Statement of Principles’ and 
refer to full Council for adoption

Recommendations:

1)     That the Committee consider the responses received following consultation. 

2)     That the Committee approve the revised Statement of Principles

3)     That the Committee recommend to full Council for approval the revised Statement of 
Principles  in order for South Holland District Council to act as the licensing authority and 
discharge its statutory duties under the Gambling Act 2005.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Gambling Act 2005 came fully into effect on 1 September 2007 creating a new 
system of licensing and regulation for commercial gambling in this country. Local 
Authorities have regulatory responsibilities for licensing certain gambling activities.  The 
Act also created an independent non-departmental public body the Gambling Commission 
sponsored by the Department for Culture, Media and Sport.

1.2 Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 a licensing authority is required to prepare 
and publish a Statement of Principles that it proposes to apply in exercising its functions 
under this Act before each successive period of three years.  The current Statement of 
Principles was both published and came into effect in April 2013.  The current policy is 
attached at Appendix 1.

1.3 To assist local authorities the Act requires the Gambling Commission to issue statutory 
guidance to Licensing Authorities on the manner in which they are to exercise their 
functions under the Act and the principles to be applied by them in exercising those 
functions.  Licensing Authorities are required to take into account such guidance.  The 
statutory guidance is designed to ensure the spread of best practice and consistency of 
approach in decision making by local authorities, whilst not preventing them from properly 
exercising the discretion they have to take account of appropriate and relevant local 
issues.

1.4 A review of the current Statement of Principles has been completed and a revised draft 
prepared.  This draft in based on the 5th edition (September 2015) of the Guidance issued 
to licensing authorities published by the Gambling Commission.  This statement has 
updated the previous one and is in line with the national advice given.  The proposed draft 
revised Statement of Principles is attached at Appendix 2.  The revisions to the 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6.



Statement of Principles, which are highlighted in bold include legislative changes and 
provision of updated Responsible Authority contact details.

1.5 Final approval of the Statement of Principles must be made by full Council.  The 
Statement of Principles must then be published for 31 days, before 31 March 2016 and 
will come into effect 1 April 2016.

1.6 The draft revised Statement of Principles was under consultation from 21 December 2015 
to 17 January 2016.  The consultation was carried out in accordance with guidance issued 
by the Gambling Commission.

1.7 There is a requirement under section 349(3) Gambling Act 2005 for the licensing authority 
to consult the following bodies on the Statement of Principles and subsequent revision to 
it:-

 The Chief Officer of Police for the authority’s area;

 one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests 
of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area; and

 one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests 
of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s 
functions under this Act.

1.8 A list of consultees is attached at Appendix 3.  The draft statement was also placed on 
the South Holland District Council website.

1.9 Two responses to the draft Statement of Principles were received within the consultation 
period.  These are attached at Appendix 4.

1.10 In determining its policy statement the licensing authority must give appropriate weight to 
the views of those it has consulted.  In deciding what weight to give the factors to be taken 
into account include:

 who is making the representations, the nature of their interest and their 
expertise

 relevance of the factors to the licensing objectives

 how many other people have expressed the same or similar views

 how far the representations relate to matters that the licensing authority 
should be including in its policy statement.

1.11 Reasons for the decisions made following consultation should be given.  As a reminder 
the licensing objectives under the Gambling Act 2005 are preventing gambling from being 
a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to 
support crime, ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way and protecting 
children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The options for the Committee of the Licensing Authority are limited as the process is 
legislative and dictated by the Gambling Act 2005.  The Council has no discretion as to 
making the Statement of Principles, although there is some discretion as to the content of 
the statement.

Page 12



The Committee may:

1. Consider the responses received following consultation;

2. Consider the draft revised Statement of Principles; and

3. Refer the Statement of Principles to Full Council for approval; or

4. Do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 To ensure South Holland District Council acting as the Licensing Authority can discharge its 
statutory duties under the Gambling Act 2005.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Statutory compliance with the Gambling Act 2005.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is a statutory requirement that the Licensing Authority produces a Statement of Principles 
that it proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the Gambling Act 2005 and that it 
reviews it at least every three years.  If the Authority does not produce a revised statement 
of policy and related procedures within the statutory timescale, there is a risk that the 
Authority will not be in a position to process applications, leaving the Authority open to 
challenge by persons wishing to make such applications.  Furthermore, the Authority will 
also have failed to comply with its legal obligations under the Act and could face challenge.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities whilst protecting 
the most vulnerable.

5.4.2 To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop and 
thrive.

5.4.3 To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way.

5.4.4 To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth.

Page 13



5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 Lincolnshire Police as a Responsible Authority under the legislation were consulted on the 
policy review but made no comment.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 These are contained within the report.

5.7 Financial

5.7.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.8 Health and Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management

5.9.1 It is a statutory requirement that the Licensing Authority produces a Statement of Principles 
that it proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the Gambling Act 2005 and that it 
reviews it a least every three years.  If the Authority does not produce a revised Statement 
of Policy and related procedures within the statutory timescale, there is a risk that the 
Authority will not be in a position to process applications, leaving the Authority open to 
challenge by persons wishing to make such applications.  Furthermore, the Authority will 
also have failed to comply with its legal obligations under the Act and could face challenge.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 Safeguarding has been considered within the review of the Statement of Principles as the 
protection of children and vulnerable people is a licensing objective under the Gambling Act 
2005.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.  Consultation has been 
carried out as indicated in para 1.8 of this report and in accordance with statutory 
requirements.  In addition to the website, 54 named organisations were consulted directly 
and 2 responses were received within the timescale.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All

Background papers:- Gambling Commission – Guidance to Licensing Authorities 5th edition

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Donna Hall – Licensing & Business Support Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764661
Email: Donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Page 14



Exempt Decision:  No 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix 1 Current Statement of Principles
Appendix 2 Draft revised Statement of Principles
Appendix 3 List of consultees
Appendix 4 Responses received

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



    1

South Holland District Council

Policy (Statement of Principles)

Gambling Act 2005

April 2013 Licensing TeamPage 17



        2

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

Contents

Part A

1. The Licensing objectives 

2. Introduction

3. Declaration

4. Responsible Authorities

5. Interested Parties

6. Exchange of information

7. Enforcement

8. Licensing Authority functions 

Part B - Premises licences: Consideration of Applications 

1. General Principles 

2. Adult Gaming Centres 

3. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 

4. Casinos 

5. Bingo premises 

6. Betting premises 

7.Tracks 

8. Travelling fairs 

9. Provisional Statements 

10. Reviews 

11. Appeals 

Part C - Permits / Temporary and Occasional Use Notices 

1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 

2. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits 

3. Prize Gaming Permits 

4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 

5. Temporary Use Notices 

6. Occasional Use Notices 

7. Small Society Lotteries 

8. Review 

9. Glossary 

Part D - Appendices

Appendix 1 - Summary of delegated powers

Appendix 2 - Persons consulted and Responsible Authorities 

Appendix 3 - Glossary 

Appendix 4 - Area map of district 

4

4

5

5

6

6

7

8

9

14

15

15

15

16

16

17

18

18

19

20

20

21

22

23

23

23

24

24

25

28

32

35

Page 18



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    3

South Holland District Council - Statement of Principles - Gambling Act 2005

This Statement of Principles was approved by South Holland District Council
on 28 November 2012

All references to the Guidance refer to the Gambling Commission’s
Guidance to Licensing Authorities 4th Edition, published July 2012

The Gambling Act 2005 requires every Licensing Authority to publish a Gambling Policy
(Statement of the Principles), which they propose to apply when exercising their
licensing functions. 

This document is the Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles)
of South Holland District Council.

Whilst all applications will be judged and determined on their individual merits the policy
will be the basis of the Licensing Authority’s decisions. 

The policy will be reviewed regularly to reflect the needs of the district of South Holland.

Page 19



        4

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

1. The Licensing Objectives

In exercising most of their functions under the
Gambling Act 2005, licensing authorities must have
regard to the licensing objectives as set out in
section 1 of the Act. The licensing objectives are:

n Preventing gambling from being a source of
crime or disorder, being associated with crime
or disorder or being used to support crime.

n Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair
and open way.

n Protecting children and other vulnerable
persons from being harmed or exploited by
gambling.

It should be noted that the Gambling Commission
has stated: “The requirement in relation to children
is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or
exploited by gambling”.

This licensing authority is aware that, as per Section
153, in making decisions about premises licences
and temporary use notices it should aim to permit
the use of premises for gambling in so far as it
thinks it:

n in accordance with any relevant code of practice
issued by the Gambling Commission

n in accordance with any relevant guidance
issued by the Gambling Commission

n Reasonably consistent with the licensing
objectives and

n in accordance with the authority’s Statement of
Licensing Policy.

2. Introduction

South Holland District Council, is situated in the
county of Lincolnshire, which contains 7 district
councils in total. The district has a population of
88,300 (census 2011 figure) making it the second
smallest district in the county in terms of
population. South Holland District covers a
geographical area of 74,238 hectares and is
situated in the south eastern corner of Lincolnshire,
which borders the counties of Cambridgeshire and
Norfolk. The district is mainly rural and is comprised
of 47 towns and villages including the main town of
Spalding. These areas are shown in the map
attached at Appendix 4.

The Licensing Authority has worked in partnership
with the other councils in the county in preparing
this statement of principles, which is based on the
draft statement of principles guidance issued by the
Department of Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS),
the Gambling Commission (the commission) and
The Local Authorities Coordinators of Regulatory
Services (LACORS).

The Licensing Authority recognises its duties to
consider the impact of all its’ functions and
decisions on crime and disorder under the
requirements of Section 17 of the Crime and
Disorder Act 1998 in adopting this statement of
principles. The council acknowledges the benefits
to the community of properly regulating gambling in
the district.

The Licensing Act 2003 provides the delegated and
procedural arrangements for the establishment of
licensing authorities.

Licensing committees established under Section 6
of the Licensing Act 2003 are also relevant
committees for the purpose of gambling functions.
Therefore, the same committee that deals with
applications and other issues in relation to the
Licensing Act 2003 will also be responsible for
Premise Licence applications and other issues (i.e.
permits) in relation to gambling.

PART A 

Page 20



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    5

The proceedings of the Licensing Committee are
regulated by Section 9 of the 2003 Act (and
regulations made under that section). Particular
provision can be made for proceedings in relation
to just the 2003 Act functions or just the 2005 Act
functions.

The functions of the Licensing Authority under the
Act may be carried out by the committee of the
Licensing Authority, by a sub-committee or by one
or more officers acting under delegated authority.
Delegated powers shall be in accordance with the
table at Appendix 1 of this document.

Licensing Authorities are required by the Gambling
Act 2005 to publish a Statement of the Principles,
which they propose to apply when exercising their
functions. This statement must be published at
least every three years. The statement must also be
reviewed from “time to time” and any amended
parts re-consulted upon. The statement must be
then re-published.

The Licensing Authority consulted widely upon this
statement before finalising and publishing. A list of
those persons consulted is provided, at Appendix 2.

The Gambling Act requires that the following parties
are consulted by licensing authorities:

n The Chief Officer of Police;

n One or more persons who appear to the
authority represent the interests of persons
carrying on gambling businesses in the
authority’s area;

n One or more persons who appear to the
authority to represent the interests of persons
who are likely to be affected by the exercise of
the authority’s functions under the
Gambling Act 2005

Our consultation took place between 19 July and
11 October 2012 and we followed the HM
Government Code of Practice on Consultation
(published July 2008), which is available at:

www.bis.gov.uk/files/file47158.pdf

The full list of comments made and the
consideration by the Council of those comments is
available by request to the Licensing Team.
Contact details below.

The policy was approved at a meeting of the
Licensing Committee on 13 November 2012 and

was subsequently submitted for approval at a
meeting of the Full Council on 28 November 2012.
It will be published via the council’s website. Copies
of the Statement of Principles were available for
inspection from the Council Offices at Priory Road,
Spalding, Lincs.

Should you have any comments as regards this
policy statement please send them via e-mail or
letter to:

The Licensing Team, South Holland District Council,
Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE

E-mail: Licensing@sholland.gov.uk or
telephone: 01775 761161.

It should be noted that this Statement of Licensing
Principles will not override the right of any person to
make an application, make representations about
an application, or apply for a review of a licence, as
each will be considered on its own merits and
according to the statutory requirements of the
Gambling Act 2005.

3. Declaration

In producing the final statement, this licensing
authority declares that it has had regard to the
licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005,
the Guidance to Licensing Authorities issued by  the
Gambling Commission, and any responses from
those consulted on the Statement of Principles.

4. Responsible Authorities

The Licensing Authority is required by regulations
to state the principles it will apply in exercising its
powers under section 157(h) of the Act to
designate, in writing, a body which is competent
to advise the authority about the protection of
children from harm. 

The principles are:

n The need for the body to be responsible for
an area covering the whole of the licensing
authority’s area;

n The need for the body to be answerable to
democratically elected persons, rather than
any particular vested interest group; and

Page 21



        6

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

n That this body is experienced in dealing with  the
protection of children

In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance for Licensing Authorities,
this authority designates the Lincolnshire Safe
Guarding Children Board for this purpose.

5. Interested parties

Interested parties can make representations about
licence applications, or apply for a review of an
existing licence. These parties are defined in the
Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

“For the purposes of this Part a person is an
interested party in relation to an application for or in
respect of a Premises Licence if, in the opinion of
the licensing authority which issues the licence or to
which the applications is made, the person

a) Lives sufficiently close to the premises to be
likely to be affected by the authorised activities,

b) Has business interests that might be affected by
the authorised activities, or

c) Represents persons who satisfy paragraph
(a) or (b) e.g. members of parliament and
ward councillors”.

The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to
state the principles it will apply in exercising its
powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine
whether a person is an interested party. 

The principles are:

The Licensing Authority, in determining whether a
person is an interested party, will consider each
case on its merits. The Authority will not apply a
rigid rule to its decision making. It will consider the
examples of considerations provided in the
Gambling commission’s Guidance to licensing
Authorities at 8.11 to 8.18. In reaching its decision,
the Licensing Authority will consider factors such as
the likelihood of the person/business being affected
by the licensable activities at the premises as well
as the geographical proximity. Larger premises may
affect people over a broader geographical area than
smaller premises offering the same facilities.

“Business interests” will be given its widest possible
interpretation and may include partnerships,
charities, faith groups and medical practices.

Interested parties can be persons who are
democratically elected such as councillors and MPs.
This will include county, borough and parish councillors
providing they represent the ward likely to be affected.
Other than these persons, the Licensing Authority will
generally require written evidence that   a person/body
(e.g. advocate/relative) ‘represents’ someone who
either lives sufficiently close to the premises likely to be
affected by the authorised activity/activities and/or
business interests that might be affected by the
authorised activity/activities. A letter from one of these
persons requesting the representation is sufficient.

If individuals wish to approach councillors to ask
them to represent their views then care should be
taken that the councillors are not part of the
Licensing Committee dealing with the licence
application. If there are any doubts then please
contact the licensing team on 01775 761161 or
email:licensing@sholland.gov.uk, or contact
Member Services on 01775 761161.

6. Exchange of Information

The Licensing Authority may share information
received in the exercise of its functions under
sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect to the
exchange of information between it and the
Gambling Commission and the functions under
section 350 of the Act with respect to the exchange
of information between it and the other persons
listed in Schedule 6 to the Act. These include a
responsible authority as defined by the Act, a
constable or police force, an authorised officer of
another Licensing Authority, Her Majesty’s
Commissioners of Customs & Excise, The
Gambling Appeal Tribunal, The National Lottery
Commission or the Secretary of State. 

The Licensing Authority will act in accordance with
the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of
information which includes the provision that the
Data Protection Act 1998 will not be contravened.

The Licensing Authority will also have regard to any
Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to
Local Authorities as well as any relevant regulations
issued by the Secretary of State under powers
provided in the Gambling Act 2005.

The Licensing Authority will inform the
Gambling Commission without delay if:

Page 22



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    7

n Information that causes the Licensing Authority
to question the suitability of a person or
business holding or applying to hold an
operating licence is received.

n There are persistent or serious disorder
problems that an operator could or should do
more to prevent, so that the Commission may
consider the continuing suitability of the
operator to hold an Operating Licence.

n If it comes to the Licensing Authority’s attention
that alcohol-licensed premises, clubs or
institutes are playing bingo during the course of
a week which involves significant stakes and
prizes that that make it possible that £2,000 in
seven days is being exceeded.

n Any other reasonable and relevant information
that the Licensing Authority is of the opinion the
Gambling Commission should be made aware of.

Should any protocols be established as regards
information exchange with other bodies then they
will be made available.

The council is a signatory to the joint protocol on
information exchange under the provisions of
Section 115 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998
with the Lincolnshire Police and the Lincolnshire
County Council. The council will seek to use that
provision as appropriate.

7. Enforcement

Licensing authorities are required by regulation
under the Gambling Act 2005 to state the principles
to be applied by the authority in exercising the
functions under Part 15 of the Act with respect to
the inspection of premises; and the powers under
section 346 of the Act to instigate criminal
proceedings in respect of the offences specified.

The Licensing Authority’s principles are that:

It will be guided by the Gambling Commission’s
Guidance for local authorities and it will
endeavour to be:

n Proportionate: regulators should only intervene
when necessary: remedies should be
appropriate to the risk posed, and costs
identified and minimised;

n Accountable: regulators must be able to justify
decisions, and be subject to public scrutiny;

n Consistent: rules and standards must be joined
up and implemented fairly;

n Transparent: regulators should be open, and
keep regulations simple and user friendly; and

n Targeted: regulation should be focused on the
problem, and minimise side effects

As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to
Licensing Authorities, this licensing authority will
endeavour to avoid duplication with other
regulatory regimes so far as possible.

The Licensing Authority will implement a risk-based
inspection programme based on;

n The Licensing Objectives

n Relevant codes of practice

n Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission,
in particular at Part 36

n The principles set out in this statement of
licensing policy.

The main enforcement and compliance role for the
licensing authority in terms of the Gambling Act
2005 is to ensure compliance with the premises
licences and other permissions which it authorises.
The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement
body for the operating and personal licences. It is
also worth noting that concerns about manufacture,
supply or repair of gaming machines are not be
dealt with by the licensing authority but should be
notified to the Gambling Commission.

This Licensing Authority may carry out risk based
regular operations with other agencies including the
Gambling Commission and the Police to ensure the
objectives are being promoted. This includes test
purchasing operations to ensure children and the
vulnerable are being protected where required.
When undertaking test purchasing activities, this
licensing authority will undertake to liaise with the
Gambling Commission and the operator to
determine what other, if any, test purchasing
schemes may already be in place. Irrespective of
the actions of an operator on their overall estate,
test purchasing may be deemed to be an
appropriate course of action.

Page 23



        8

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

As a general rule the licensing authority will
consider formal action where there is evidence that
the Licensing Objectives are being adversely
affected. 

Premises licence holders are advised that where
following the receipt of a warning or warnings in
relation to a Premises Licence breach or breaches,
an operator subsequently breaches the licence
conditions, the Licensing Authority will seek to
review the premises licence.

The Licensing Authority keeps itself informed of
developments as regards the work of the Better
Regulation Executive in its consideration of the
regulatory functions of local authorities.

In considering enforcement action, the Licensing
Authority will bear in mind the Human Rights Act,
in particular:

n Article 1, Protocol 1 - peaceful enjoyment
of possessions

n Article 6 - right to a fair hearing

n Article 8 - respect for private and family life

n Article 10 - right to freedom of expression

8. Licensing Authority functions

South Holland District Council as the licensing
authority is responsible for the licensing of
premises and the issue of permits and
authorisations under the Gambling Act 2005. The
Authority’s main functions under the 2005 Act are:

n Be responsible for the licensing of premises
where gambling activities are to take place by
issuing Premises Licences

n Issue Provisional Statements

n Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare
institutes who wish to undertake certain gaming
activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits
and/or Club Machine Permits

n Issue Club Machine Permits to
Commercial Clubs

n Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake
gaming machines at unlicensed Family
Entertainment Centres

n Receive notifications from alcohol licensed
premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) for
the use of two or fewer gaming machines

n Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine
Permits for premises licensed to sell/supply
alcohol for consumption on the licensed
premises, under the Licensing Act 2003,
where there are more than two machines

n Register small society lotteries below
prescribed thresholds

n Issue Prize Gaming Permits

n Receive and endorse Temporary Use Notices

n Receive Occasional Use Notices

n Provide information to the Gambling
Commission regarding details of licences issued
(see section above on ‘information exchange’)

n Maintain registers of the permits and licences
that are issued under these functions

It should be noted that licensing authorities are not
involved in licensing remote gambling at all, which
is regulated by the Gambling Commission via
operating licences.

This Policy is intended to provide clarity to
applicants, interested parties and responsible
authorities on how this Licensing Authority will
determine applications. Guidance is available to
assist applicants: the aforementioned guidance
does not form part of this Policy.

Page 24



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    9

1. General Principles

Premises licences are subject to the requirements
set out in the Gambling Act 2005 and regulations,
as well as specific mandatory and default
conditions, which are detailed in regulations issued
by the Secretary of State. Licensing authorities are
able to exclude default conditions and also attach
others, where it is believed to be appropriate.

(i) Decision-making

This Licensing Authority is aware that in making
decisions about premises licences it should aim to
permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as
it thinks it:

n In accordance with any relevant code of practice
issued by the Gambling Commission;

n In accordance with any relevant guidance
issued by the Gambling Commission;

n Reasonably consistent with the licensing
objectives; and

n In accordance with the authority’s statement of
licensing policy

It is appreciated that as per the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities
“moral objections to gambling are not a valid
reason to reject applications for premises licences”
and also that unmet demand is not a criterion for a
licensing authority.

Premises Licences authorise the provision of
gambling facilities on the following:

n Casino premises

n Bingo premises

n Betting premises (including race tracks used by
betting intermediaries)

n Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs)

n Family Entertainment Centres (FECs)

This licensing authority also notes Gambling
Commission guidance on ensuring that betting is
the primary activity of a licensed premises. Gaming
machines may be made available for use in
licensed betting premises only at times when there
are also sufficient facilities for betting available.
Operators will need to demonstrate that betting will
continue to be the primary activity of the premises
when seeking variations to licences.

In making this determination, this licensing authority
will have regard to the six indicators of betting as a
primary gambling activity.

n The offer of established core products
(including live event pictures and bet range)

n The provision of information on products and
events

n The promotion of gambling opportunities and 
products

n The actual use made of betting facilities

n The size of premises

n The delivery of betting facilities

(ii) Definition of ‘premises’ 

Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”.
Different premises licences cannot apply in respect
of a single premises at different times. However, it is
possible for a single building to be subject to more
than one premises licence, provided they are for
different parts of the building and the different parts
of the building can be reasonably regarded as
being different premises. This approach has been
taken to allow large, multiple unit premises such as
a pleasure park, track or shopping mall to obtain
discrete premises licences, where appropriate
safeguards are in place. However, the Licensing
Authority will pay particular attention if there are
issues about sub-division of a single building or plot
and will ensure that mandatory conditions relating
to access between premises are observed. Each
case should be judged on its individual merits.

PART B
Premises Licencies: Consideration of Applications 

Page 25



        10

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

The Gambling Commission states in its guidance to
Licensing Authorities that “in most cases the
expectation is that a single building/plot will be the
subject of an application for a licence, for example,
32 High Street. That does not mean that 32 High
Street cannot be the subject of separate premises
licences for the basement and ground floor, if they
are configured acceptably. Whether different parts
of a building can properly be regarded as being
separate premises will depend on the
circumstances. The location of the premises will
clearly be an important consideration and the
suitability of the division is likely to be a matter for
discussion between the operator and the licensing
officer. However, the commission does not consider
that areas of a building that are artificially or
temporarily separated, for example by ropes or
moveable partitions, can be properly regarded as
different premises”.

This licensing authority takes particular note of the
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing
Authorities which states that:

Licensing Authorities should take particular care in
considering applications for multiple licences for a
building and those relating to a discrete part of a
building used for other (non-gambling) purposes. In
particular they should be aware of the following:

n The third licensing objective seeks to protect
children from being harmed by gambling. In
practice that means not only preventing them
from taking part in gambling, but also
preventing them from being in close proximity to
gambling. Therefore premises should be
configured so that children are not invited to
participate in, have accidental access to, or
closely observe gambling where they are
prohibited from participating.

n Entrances to and exits from parts of a building
covered by one or more premises licences
should be separate and identifiable so that the
separation of different premises is not
compromised and people do not ‘drift’ into a
gambling area. In this context it should normally
be possible to access the premises without
going through another licensed premises or
premises with a permit.

n Customers should be able to participate in the
activity named on the premises licence.

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the
licensing authority should be aware of, which may
include:

n Do the premises have a separate registration for
business rates?

n Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned
by the same person or someone else?

n Can each of the premises be accessed from the
street or a public passageway?

n Can the premises only be accessed from any
other gambling premises?

This Authority will consider these and other relevant
factors in making its decision depending on all the
circumstances of the case.

The Gambling Commission’s relevant access
provisions for each premises type are
reproduced below:

Casinos

n The principal access entrance to the premises
must be from a street (as defined at 7.25 of the
Guidance)

n No entrance to a casino must be from premises
that are used wholly or mainly by children
and/or young persons

n No Customer must be able to enter a casino
directly from any other premises which holds a
gambling premises licence

Adult Gaming Centre

n No customer must be able to access the
premises directly from any other licensed
gambling premises Betting Shops

n Access must be from a street (as per para 7.25
Guidance to Licensing Authorities) or from
another premises with a betting premises licence.

n No direct access from a betting shop to another
premises used for the retail sale of merchandise
or services. In effect there cannot be an
entrance to a betting shop from a shop of any
kind and you could not have a betting shop at
the back of a café - the whole area would have
to be licensed.

Page 26



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    11

Tracks

n No customer should be able to access the
premises directly from:

n A casino

n An adult gaming centre

Bingo Premises

n No customer should be able to access the
premises directly from:

n A casino

n An adult gaming centre

n A betting premises, other than a track

Family Entertainment Centre

n No customer must be able to access the
premises directly from:

n A casino

n An adult gaming centre

n A betting premises, other than a track

Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to
Licensing Authorities contains further guidance on
this issue, which this authority will also take into
account in its decision making.

(iii) Premises ‘ready for gambling’

The Gambling Commission’s Guidance states that
a licence to use premises for gambling should only
be issued in relation to premises that the licensing
authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to
be used for gambling in the reasonably near future,
consistent with the scale of the building or
alterations required before the premises are
brought into use.

If the construction of a premises is not yet
complete, or if they need alteration, or if the
applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them,
then an application for a provisional statement can
be made instead.

In deciding whether a premises licence can be
granted where there are outstanding construction
or alteration works at the premises, this authority
will determine applications on their merits, applying
a two stage consideration process;

n First, whether the premises ought to be
permitted to be used for gambling

n Second, whether appropriate conditions can be
put in place to cater for the situation that the
premises are not yet in the state in which they
ought to be before gambling takes place. 

Applicants should note that this authority is entitled
to decide that it is appropriate to grant a licence
subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant
such a licence.

More detailed example of the circumstances in
which such a licence may be granted can be found
at paragraphs 7.59-7.66 of the Gambling
Commissions Guidance.

(iv) Location

The licensing authority is aware that demand issues
cannot be considered with regard to the location of
premises but that considerations in terms of the
licensing objectives are relevant to its decision
making. As per the Gambling Commission’s
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, this authority will
pay particular attention to the protection of children
and vulnerable persons from being harmed or
exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime
and disorder. Should any specific policy be decided
upon as regards areas where gambling premises
should not be located, this statement will be
updated. It should be noted that any such policy
does not preclude any application being made and
each application will be decided on its merits, with
the onus upon the applicant showing how potential
concerns can be overcome.

(v) Planning

The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing
Authorities states:

In determining applications the Licensing Authority
has a duty to take into consideration all relevant
matters and not take into consideration any

Page 27



        12

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

irrelevant matters, i.e. those not related to gambling
and the licensing objectives. One example of an
irrelevant factor would be the likelihood of the

applicant obtaining planning permission or building
regulations approval for their proposal.

This authority will not take into account any
irrelevant matters as per the above Guidance. In
addition this authority notes the following excerpt
from the Guidance:

When dealing with a premises licence application
for finished buildings, the licensing authority should
not take into account whether those buildings have
or comply with the necessary planning or building
consents. Those matters should be dealt with under
the relevant planning control and building
regulation powers and not form part of the
consideration for the premises licence. Section 210
of the 2005 Act prevents Licensing Authorities
taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by
the applicant obtaining planning or building
consent when considering a premises licence
application. Equally the grant of a gambling
premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any
action that may be appropriate under the law
relating to planning or building.

(vi) Duplication with other regulatory regimes

This licensing authority seeks to avoid any
duplication with other statutory / regulatory systems
where possible, including planning. This authority
will not consider whether a licence application is
likely to be awarded planning permission or
building regulations approval, in its consideration of
it. It will though listen to, and consider carefully, any
concerns about conditions, which are not able to
be met by licensees due to planning restrictions,
should such a situation arise. It is for the applicant
to ensure that any other statutory requirements are
complied with.

When dealing with a premises licence application
for finished buildings, this authority will not take into
account whether those buildings have to comply
with the necessary planning or building consents.
Fire or health and safety risks will not be taken into
account, as these matters are dealt with under
relevant planning control, buildings and other
regulations and must not form part of the
consideration for the premises licence.

Licensing objectives

Premises licences granted must be reasonably
consistent with the licensing objectives. With regard
to these objectives, the licensing authority has
considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance
to Licensing Authorities and some comments are
made below.

Preventing gambling from being a source of
crime or disorder, being associated with crime
or disorder or being used to support crime

This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling
Commission will be taking a leading role in
preventing gambling from being a source of crime.
The Gambling Commission's Guidance does
however envisage that licensing authorities should
pay attention to the proposed location of gambling
premises in terms of this licensing objective. Thus,
where an area has known high levels of organised
crime this authority will consider carefully whether
gambling premises are suitable to be located there
and whether conditions may be suitable such as
the provision of door supervisors. This licensing
authority is aware of the distinction between
disorder and nuisance and will consider factors
such as whether police assistance was required
and how threatening the behaviour was to those
who could see it, so as to make that distinction.

Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair
and open way

This licensing authority has noted that the
Gambling Commission states that it generally does
not expect Licensing Authorities to become
concerned with ensuring that gambling is
conducted in a fair and open way as this will be
addressed via operating and personal licences.
There is however, more of a role with regard to
tracks which is explained in more detail in the
'tracks' section - (see page 16).

Protecting children and other vulnerable
persons from being harmed or exploited by
gambling 

This Licensing Authority has noted the Gambling
Commission's Guidance states that this objective

Page 28



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    13

means preventing children from taking part in
gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so
that gambling products are not aimed at or are,
particularly attractive to children). The licensing
authority will therefore consider, as suggested in
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, whether
specific measures are required at particular
premises, with regard to this licensing objective.
Appropriate measures may include supervision of
entrances / machines, segregation of areas etc.

This licensing authority is also aware of the
Gambling Commission Codes of Practice as
regards this licensing objective, in relation to
specific premises.

As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted
that the Gambling Commission does not seek to
offer a definition but states that “it will for regulatory
purposes assume that this group includes people
who gamble more than they want to; people who
are gambling beyond their means; and people who
may not be able to make informed or balanced
decisions about gambling due to a mental
impairment, alcohol or drugs.” This Licensing
Authority will consider this licensing objective on a
case by case basis.

Conditions 

Any conditions attached to licences will be
proportionate and will be:

n Relevant to the need to make the proposed
building suitable as a gambling facility

n Directly related to the premises and the type of
licence applied for

n Fairly and reasonably related to the scale and
type of premises and

n Reasonable in all other respects.

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made
on a case by case basis, although there will be a
number of measures this Licensing Authority will
consider utilising should there be a perceived need,
such as the use of door supervisors and
appropriate signage for adult only areas etc. There
are specific comments made in this regard under
some of the licence types below. This Licensing
Authority will also expect the licence applicant to
offer his/her own suggestions as to ways in which

the licensing objectives can be met effectively.

This Licensing Authority will also consider specific
measures which may be required for buildings
which are subject to multiple premises licences.
Such measures may include the supervision of
entrances; segregation of gambling from non-
gambling areas frequented by children; and the
supervision of gaming machines in non-adult
gambling specific premises in order to pursue the
licensing objectives. These matters are in
accordance with the Gambling Commission's
Guidance.

This authority will also ensure that where category
C or above machines are on offer in premises to
which children are admitted:

n all such machines are located in an area of the
premises which is separated from the remainder
of the premises by a physical barrier which is
effective to prevent access other than through
adesignated entrance;

n only adults are admitted to the area where these
machines are located;

n access to the area where the machines are
located is supervised;

n the area where these machines are located is
arranged so that it can be observed by the staff
or the licence holder; and

n at the entrance to and inside any such areas
there are prominently displayed notices
indicating that access to the area is prohibited
to persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises
including buildings where multiple premises
licences are applicable.

This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be
subject to one or more than one Premises Licence,
provided each licence relates to a specified area of
the track. As per the Gambling Commission's
Guidance, this licensing authority will consider the
impact upon the third licensing objective and the
need to ensure that entrances to each type of
premises are distinct and that children are excluded
from gambling areas where they are not permitted
to enter.

Page 29



        14

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

It is noted that there are conditions which the
licensing authority cannot attach to premises
licences which are:

n any condition on the premises licence which
makes it impossible to comply with an operating
licence condition

n conditions relating to gaming machine
categories, numbers, or method of operation

n conditions which provide that membership of a
club or body be required (the Gambling Act
2005 specifically removes the membership
requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this
provision prevents it being reinstated) and

n conditions in relation to stakes, fees,
winning or prizes.

Door Supervisors

If there are concerns that premises may attract
disorder or be subject to unauthorised access by
children and young persons, then the Licensing
Authority may require that Door Supervisors control
entrances to the premises. The Licensing Authority
recognises that each premises application shall be
treated on its own merit. In addition, the Licensing
Authority shall take into account the previous
trading history of the type of premises proposed
and that any decision shall be necessary and
proportionate.

Where door supervisors are imposed as a condition
on a Premises Licence (except casino or bingo
premises), Section 178 of the 2005 Act requires that
any person employed in that capacity will hold a
relevant licence issued by the Security Industry
Authority (SIA). There are however exemptions to
this requirement i.e. ‘in-house’ employees working
as door supervisors at casino and bingo premises.

2. Adult Gaming Centres

The Licensing Authority will specifically have regard
to the need to protect children and vulnerable
persons from harm or being exploited by gambling
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority
that there will be sufficient measures to, for
example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not
have access to the premises.

The Licensing Authority may consider measures to
meet the licensing objectives, such as:

n Proof of age schemes

n CCTV

n Supervision of entrances / machine areas (eg
use of door supervisors)

n Physical separation of areas

n Location of entry

n Notices / signage (including the statutory
requirement in relation to the display of
GamCare stickers)

n Specific opening hours

n Self-exclusion schemes

n Provision of information leaflets / helpline
numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is
merely indicative of example measures.

The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to
adopt an approved proof of age scheme (such as
Challenge 21/25), for staff to be suitably trained and
aware of the gambling laws, social responsibility
and statutory requirements relating to age
restrictions.

Page 30



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    15

3. Licensed Family
Entertainment Centres

This licensing authority will specifically have regard
to the need to protect children and vulnerable
persons from harm or being exploited by gambling
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority,
for example, that there will be sufficient measures to
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access
to the adult only gaming machine areas. Children
and young persons are permitted to enter an FEC
and may play on Category D machines. They are
not permitted to play on Category C machines, and
it is a requirement that there is clear segregation
between the two types of machine, to prevent
access by children and young persons to
Category C machines.

This licensing authority may consider measures to
meet the licensing objectives, such as:

n CCTV

n Supervision of entrances / machine areas (eg
use of door supervisors)

n Physical separation of areas

n Location of entry

n Notices / signage (including the statutory
requirement for GamCare stickers)

n Specific opening hours

n Self-exclusion schemes

n Provision of information leaflets/helpline
numbers for organisations such as GamCare

n Measures/training for staff on how to deal with
suspected truant school children on the
premises

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is
merely indicative of example measures.

This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling
Commission’s guidance, refer to the Commission’s
website to see any conditions that apply to
operating licences covering the way in which the
area containing the category C machines should be
delineated. This licensing authority will also make
itself aware of any mandatory or default conditions
on these premises licences, when they have been
published.

4. Casinos

No Casinos resolution

This Licensing Authority has not passed a ‘no
casino’ resolution under Section 166 of the
Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it has the
power to do so. Should this licensing authority
decide in the future to pass such a resolution,
it will update this statement of principles with
details of that resolution. Any such resolution will
be made by the Full Council.

5. Bingo premises

This licensing authority notes that the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance states:

18.4 - Licensing authorities will need to satisfy
themselves that bingo can be played in any bingo
premises for which they issue a premises licence.
There will be a relevant consideration where the
operator of an existing bingo premises applies to
vary their licence to exclude an area of the existing
premises from its ambit and then applies for a new
premises licence or multiple licence, for that or
those excluded areas.

This authority also notes the Guidance at paragraph
18.8 regarding the unusual circumstances in which
the splitting of a pre-existing premises into two
adjacent premises might be permitted, and in
particular that it is not permissible to locate sixteen
category B3 gaming machines in one of the
resulting premises, as the gaming machine
entitlement for that premises would be exceeded.

18.7 - Children and young persons are allowed into
bingo premises; however they are not permitted to
participate in the bingo and if Category B and C
machines are made available for use these must be
separated from areas where children and young
people are allowed.

In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s
Guidance, the Licensing Authority recognises that it
is important that if children are allowed to enter
premises licensed for bingo that they do not
participate in gambling, other than on Category D
machines. Where Category C or above machines
are available in the bingo premises to which

Page 31



        16

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

children are admitted, the Licensing Authority will
seek to ensure that:

n all such machines are located in an area of the
premises separate from the remainder of the
premises by a physical barrier which is effective
to prevent access other than through a
designated entrance;

n only adults are admitted to the area where the
machines are located;

n access to the area where the machines are
located is supervised;

n the area where the machines are located is
arranged so that it can be observed by staff of
the operator or the licence holder; and

n at the entrance to, and inside any such area
there are prominently displayed notices
indicating that access to the area is prohibited
to persons under 18.

Where Bingo is provided in alcohol-licensed
premises and it reaches a certain threshold, it will
no longer be authorised as equal chance gaming
and a Bingo Operating Licence will need to be
obtained from the Gambling Commission. The aim
of this provision is to prevent bingo becoming a
predominant commercial activity on such non-
gambling premises.

6. Betting premises

The Licensing Authority is responsible for issuing
and monitoring Premises Licences for all betting
premises. Children and young persons are not
permitted entry to a premise with a Betting
Premises Licence. They may, however, be permitted
entry to tracks and special rules will apply. The
Licensing Authority recommends that an applicant
for gaming machines in betting premises considers
carefully the location of betting machines to ensure
that they are not in sight of the entrance of the
premises.

Betting machines

This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling
Commission's Guidance, take into account the size
of the premises, the number of counter positions
available for person-to-person transactions, and the

ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines
by children and young persons (it is an offence for
those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people,
when considering the number / nature /
circumstances of betting machines an operator
wants to offer.

7. Tracks

Note there are currently no tracks operating in the
district, however this statement of principles
contains provision for the event of such a premise.

This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be
subject to one or more than one premises licence,
provided each licence relates to a specified area of
the track. As per the Gambling Commission's
Guidance, this licensing authority will especially
consider the impact upon the third licensing
objective (i.e. the protection of children and
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited
by gambling) and the need to ensure that
entrances to each type of premises are distinct and
that children are excluded from gambling areas
where they are not permitted to enter.

This authority will therefore expect the premises
licence applicant to demonstrate suitable measures
to ensure that children do not have access to adult
only gaming facilities. It is noted that children and
young persons will be permitted to enter track
areas where facilities for betting are provided on
days when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes
place, but that they are still prevented from entering
areas where gaming machines (other than category
D machines) are provided.

This licensing authority may consider measures to
meet the licensing objectives, such as:

n Proof of age schemes

n CCTV

n Supervision of entrances / machine areas

n Physical separation of areas

n Location of entry

n Notices / signage (including the statutory
requirement for GamCare stickers)

n Specific opening hours

Page 32



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    17

n Self-exclusion schemes

n Provision of information leaflets / helpline
numbers for organisations such as GamCare

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is
merely indicative of example measures.

Gaming machines

Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating
licence and is going to use the entitlement to four
gaming machines, machines (other than category D
machines) should be located in areas from which
children are excluded.

Betting machines

This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling
Commission's Guidance, take into account the size
of the premises and the ability of staff to monitor the
use of the machines by children and young
persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet)
or by vulnerable people, when considering the
number/nature/circumstances of betting machines
an operator wants to offer.

Applications and plans

The Gambling Act (section 151) requires applicants
to submit plans of the premises with their
application, in order to ensure that the licensing
authority has the necessary information to make an
informed judgement about whether the premises
are fit for gambling. The plan will also be used for
the Licensing Authority to plan future premises
inspection activity. (See the Guidance to Licensing
Authorities, para 20.28)

Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular
scale, but should be drawn to scale and should be
sufficiently detailed to include the information
required by regulations. (See Guidance to
Licensing Authorities, para 20.29)

Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land
where the perimeter is not defined by virtue of an
outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point
racetracks. In such circumstances, where an entry
fee is levied, track premises licence holders may
erect temporary structures to restrict access to
premises (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities,
para 20.31).

In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot
be defined, it is likely that the track in question will
not be specifically designed for the frequent holding
of sporting events or races. In such cases betting
facilities may be better provided through occasional
use notices where the boundary premises do not
need to be defined (See Guidance to Licensing
Authorities, para 20.32)

This authority appreciates that it is sometimes
difficult to define the precise location of betting
areas on tracks. The precise location of where
betting facilities are provided is not required to be
shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that
betting is permitted anywhere on the premises and
because of the difficulties associated with
pinpointing exact locations for some types of track.
Applicants should provide sufficient information that
this authority can satisfy itself that the plan indicates
the main areas where betting might take place. For
racecourses in particular, any betting area subject
to the “five times rule” (commonly known as betting
rings) must be indicated on the plan (see Guidance
to Licensing Authorities para 20.33)

8. Travelling Fairs

This Licensing Authority is responsible for deciding
whether where category D machines and / or equal
chance prize gaming without a permit are to be
made available for use at travelling fairs, the
statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling
amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at
the fair is met.

The Licensing Authority will also consider whether
the applicant falls within the statutory definition of a
travelling fair.

It has been noted that the 27-day statutory
maximum for the land being used as a fair, applies
on a per calendar year basis and that it applies to
the piece of land on which the fairs are held,
regardless of whether it is the same or different
travelling fairs occupying the land. The licensing
authority will work with its neighbouring authorities
to ensure that land, which crosses our boundaries,
is monitored so that the statutory limits are not
exceeded.

Page 33



        18

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

9. Provisional Statements

Developers may wish to apply to this authority for
provisional statements before entering into a
contract to buy or lease property or land to judge
whether a development is worth taking forward in
light of the need to obtain a premises licence. There
is no need for the applicant to hold an operating
licence in order to apply for a provisional statement. 

Section 204 of the Gambling Act provides for a
person to make an application to the Licensing
Authority for a provisional statement in respect of
premises that he or she:

n Expects to be constructed;

n Expects to be altered; or

n Expects to acquire a right to occupy.

The process for considering an application for a
provisional statement is the same as that for a
premises licence application. The applicant is
obliged to give notice of the application in the same
way as applying for a premises licence.
Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties may
make representations and there are rights of
appeal.

In contrast to the premises licence application, the
applicant does not have to hold or have applied for
an operating licence from the Gambling
Commission (except in the case of a track) and
they do not have to have a right to occupy the
premises in respect of which their provisional
application is made.

The holder of the provisional statement may then
apply for a premises licence once the premises are
constructed, altered or acquired. The Licensing
Authority will be constrained in the matters it can
consider when determining the premises licence
application, and in terms of representations about
premises licence applications that follow the grant
of a provisional statement, no further
representations from relevant authorities or
interested parties can be taken into account unless:

n They concern matters which could not have
been addressed at the provisional statement
stage, or

n They reflect a change in the applicant’s
circumstances.

In addition, the authority may refuse the premises
licence (or grant it on terms different to those
attached to the provisional statement) only by
reference to matters:

n Which could not have been raised by objectors
at the provisional statement stage;

n Which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change
in the operator’s circumstances;

n Where the premises have not been constructed
in accordance with the plan submitted with the
application. This must be a substantial change
to the plan and this Licensing Authority notes
that it can discuss any concerns it has with the
applicant before making a decision.

10. Reviews

Requests for a review of a premises licence can be
made by interested parties or responsible
authorities, however, it is for the licensing authority
to decide whether the review is to be carried-out.
This will be on the basis of whether the request for
the review is relevant to the matters listed below:

n in accordance with any relevant code of practice
issued by the Gambling Commission;

n in accordance with any relevant guidance
issued by the Gambling Commission;

n reasonably consistent with the licensing
objectives; and

n in accordance with the authority’s statement of
principles.

The request for the review will also be subject to the
consideration by the authority as to whether the
request is frivolous, vexatious or whether it will
certainly not cause this authority to wish to alter /
revoke / suspend the licence, or whether it is
substantially the same as previous representations
or requests for review.

The Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of
a particular premises licence, or a particular class of
premises licence on the basis of any reason which
it thinks appropriate.

Page 34



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    19

Once a valid application for review has been
received by the licensing authority, representations
can be made by responsible authorities and
interested parties during a 28 day period. This
period begins 7 days after the application was
received by the Licensing Authority, who will
publish notice of the application within 7 days of
receipt.

The Licensing Authority must carry out the review
as soon as possible after the 28 day period for
making representations has passed.

The purpose of the review will be to determine
whether the Licensing Authority should take any
action in relation to the licence. If action is justified,
the options open to the Licensing Authority are:

n Add, remove or amend a licence condition
imposed by the Licensing Authority;

n Exclude a default condition imposed by the
Secretary of State (e.g. opening hours) or
remove or amend such an exclusion;

n Suspend the premises licence for a period not
exceeding three months; and

n Revoke the premises licence.

In determining what action, if any, should be taken
following a review, the Licensing Authority must
have regard to the principles set out in Section 153
of the Act, as well as any relevant representation.

In particular, the Licensing Authority may also
initiate a review of a premises licence on the
grounds that a premises licence holder has not
provided facilities for gambling at the premises.
This is to prevent people from applying for licences
in a speculative manner without intending to use
them.

Once the review has been completed, the Licensing
Authority must, as soon as possible, notify its
decision to:

n The licence holder

n The applicant for review (if any)

n The Gambling Commission

n Any person who made a representations

n The Chief Officer of Police or Chief Constable

n Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and
Customs.

11. Appeals

There is a right of appeal both for applicants and
those who have made relevant representations or
applied for a review. This appeal must be lodged
within a period of 21 days from the day on which
the applicant was notified by the Licensing
Authority of the decision and must be made to the
Magistrates’ Court.

Page 35



        20

PART C
Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notices

1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment
Centre gaming machine permits
(Statement of Principles on
permits - Schedule 10 para 7)

Where a premise does not hold a premises licence
but wishes to provide Category D gaming
machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for
this permit. It should be noted that the applicant
must show that the premises will be wholly or
mainly used for making gaming machines available
for use (Section 238).

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing
authority may prepare a statement of principles that
they propose to consider in determining the
suitability of an applicant for a permit and in
preparing this statement, and/or considering
applications, it need not (but may) have regard to
the licensing objectives and shall have regard to
any relevant guidance issued by the commission
under section 25. The Gambling Commission’s
Guidance to licensing authorities also states: “In
their three year licensing policy statement, licensing
authorities may include a statement of principles
that they propose to apply when exercising their
functions in considering applications for permits…,
licensing authorities will want to give weight to child
protection issues”. (24.6)

Guidance also states: “...An application for a permit
may be granted only if the licensing authority is
satisfied that the premises will be used as an
unlicensed FEC, and if the chief officer of police has
been consulted on the application....Licensing
authorities might wish to consider asking
applications to demonstrate:

n a full understanding of the maximum stakes and
prizes of the gambling that is permissible in
unlicensed FECs;

n that the applicant has no relevant convictions
(those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act;
and

n that staff are trained to have a full understanding
of the maximum stakes and prizes. (24.7)

It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot
attach conditions to this type of permit.

Statement of Principles

This licensing authority will expect the applicant to
show that there are policies and procedures in
place to protect children from harm. Harm in this
context is not limited to harm from gambling but
includes wider child protection considerations.
The efficiency of such policies and procedures will
each be considered on their merits, however, they
may include appropriate measures / training for
staff as regards suspected truant school children on
the premises, measures / training covering how
staff would deal with unsupervised very young
children being on the premises, or children causing
perceived problems on / around the premises.
This licensing authority will also expect, as per
Gambling Commission Guidance, that applicants
demonstrate a full understanding of the maximum
stakes and prizes of the gambling that is
permissible in unlicensed FECs; that the applicant
has no relevant convictions (those that are set out
in Schedule 7 of the Act); and that staff are trained
to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes
and prizes.

2. (Alcohol) Licensed premises
gaming machine permits and
Notifications - (Schedule 13
paragraph 4(1))

Automatic entitlement: 2 machines

There is provision in the Act for premises licensed
to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises, to
automatically have 2 gaming machines, of
categories C and/or D. The premises merely need
to notify the licensing authority and pay the
prescribed fee.

Page 36



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    21

The licensing authority however can remove the
automatic authorisation in respect of any particular
premises if:

n Provision of the machines is not reasonably
consistent with the pursuit of the licensing
objectives;

n Gaming has taken place on the premises that
breaches a condition of section 282 of the
Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been
provided to the licensing authority, that a fee has
been provided and that any relevant code of
practice issued by the Gambling Commission
about the location and operation of the machine
has been complied with)

n The premises are mainly used for gaming; or

n An offence under the Gambling Act has been
committed on the premises

Permits: 3 or more machines

If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines,
then it needs to apply for a permit and the licensing
authority must consider that application based
upon the licensing objectives, any guidance issued
by the Gambling Commission issued under section
25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as
they think relevant.” The licensing authority
considers that “such matters” will be decided on a
case by case basis but generally there will be
regard to the need to protect children and
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by
gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the
authority that there will be sufficient measures to
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access
to the adult only gaming machines. Measures
which will satisfy the authority that there will be no
access may include the adult machines being in
sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff who will
monitor that the machines are not being used by
those under 18. Notices and signage may also be
help. As regards the protection of vulnerable
persons applicants may wish to consider the
provision of information leaflets and helpline
numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

It is recognised that some alcohol-licensed
premises may apply for a premises licence for their
non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such application
would most likely need to be applied for, and dealt
with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence.

It should be noted that the licensing authority can
decide to grant the application with a smaller
number of machines and/or a different category of
machines than that applied for. Conditions (other
than these) cannot be attached.

It should also be noted that the holder of a permit
must comply with any Code of Practice issued by
the Gambling Commission about the location
andoperation of the machine.

3. Prize Gaming Permits

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing
authority may “prepare a statement of principles
that they propose to apply in exercising their
functions under this schedule” which “may, in
particular, specify matters that the licensing
authority propose to consider in determining the
suitability of the applicant for a permit”.

This licensing authority has prepared a Statement
of Principles which is that the applicant should set
out the types of gaming that he or she is intending
to offer and that the applicant should be able to
demonstrate:

n that they understand the limits to stakes and
prizes that are set out in Regulations;

n and that the gaming offered is within the law.

n clear polices that outline steps to be taken to
protect children from harm.

In making its decision on an application for this
permit the licensing authority does not need to (but
may) have regard to the licensing objectives but
must have regard to any Gambling Commission
guidance. (Gambling Act 2005, Schedule 14
paragraph 8(3)).

It should be noted that there are conditions in the
Gambling Act 2005 by which the permit holder
must comply, but that the licensing authority cannot
attach conditions. The conditions in the Act are:

n The limits on participation fees, as set out in
regulations, must be complied with;

Page 37



        22

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

n All chances to participate in the gaming must be
allocated on the premises on which the gaming
is taking place and on one day; the game must
be played and completed on the day the
chances are allocated; and the result of the
game must be made public in the premises on
the day that it is played;

n The prize for which the game is played must
not exceed theamount set out in regulations
(if a money prize), or the prescribed value
(if non-monetary prize); and

n Participation in the gaming must not entitle the
player to take part in any other gambling.

4. Club Gaming and Club
Machines Permits

Members clubs and miners’ welfare institutes (but
not commercial clubs) may apply for a Club
Gaming Permit or a Club Gaming Machine Permit
(Commercial Clubs cannot apply for a Club Gaming
Permit). The Club Gaming Permit will enable the
premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines
of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and
games of chance as setout in regulations. A Club
Gaming Machine Permit will enable the premises to
provide gaming machines (3 machines of
categories B, C or D).

Gambling Commission Guidance states:

Members’ clubs must have at least 25 members
and be established and conducted ‘wholly or
mainly’ for purposes other than gaming, unless the
gaming is permitted by separate regulations. The
Secretary of State has made such regulations and
these cover bridge and whist clubs. A members’
club must be permanent in nature and established
and conducted for the benefit of its members and
not as a commercial enterprise. Examples include
working men’s clubs, branches of the Royal British
Legion and clubs with political affiliations.

The Commission Guidance also notes that
licensing authorities may only refuse an application
on the grounds that:

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for
a members’ or commercial club or miners’
welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to
receive the type of permit for which it has
applied;

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or
mainly by children and/or young persons;

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit
has been committed by the applicant while
providing gaming facilities;

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been
cancelled in the previous ten years; or

(e) an objection has been lodged by the
Commission or the police.

There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available
under the Act for premises which hold a Club
Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003
(Schedule 12 paragraph 10). As the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance for local authorities states:
“Under the fast-track procedure there is no
opportunity for objections to be made by the
Commission or the police, and the ground upon
which an authority can refuse a permit are
reduced.” And “The grounds on which an
application under the process may be refused are:

(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming,
other than gaming prescribed under
schedule 12;

(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the
applicant provides facilities for other gaming; or

(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine
permit issued to the applicant in the last ten
years has been cancelled.”

There are statutory conditions on club gaming
permits that no child uses a category B or C
machine on the premises and that the holder
complies with any relevant provision of a code of
practice about the location and operation of gaming
machines.

Page 38



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    23

5. Temporary Use Notices

Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises
for gambling where there is no premises licence but
where a gambling operator wishes to use the
premises temporarily for providing facilities for
gambling. Premises that might be suitable for a
Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling
Commission, would include hotels, conference
centres and sporting venues.

The Licensing Authority can only grant a Temporary
Use Notice to a person or company holding a
relevant operating licence i.e. a non-remote casino
operating licence.

The Secretary of State has the power to determine
what form of gambling can be authorised by
Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing
this statement the relevant regulations (SI no 3157:
The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices)
Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use Notices
can only be used to permit the provision of facilities
for equal chance gaming, where the gaming is
intended to produce a single winner, which in
practice means poker tournaments.

There are a number of statutory limits as regards
Temporary Use Notices. The meaning of “premises”
in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing
Authorities. As with “premises”, the definition of “a
set of premises” will be a question of fact in the
particular circumstances of each notice that is
given. In the Act “premises” is defined as including
“any place”. In considering whether a place falls
within the definition of a “set of premises” the
Licensing Authority needs to look at, amongst other
things, the ownership/occupation and control of the
premises.

The Licensing Authority expects to object to notices
where it appears that their effect would be to permit
regular gambling in a place that could be described
as one set of premises, as recommended in the
Gambling Commissions Guidance to Licensing
Authorities.

6. Occasional Use Notices

The licensing authority has very little discretion as
regards these notices aside from ensuring that the
statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not
exceeded. This licensing authority will though
consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether
the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of
the notice.

7. Small Society Lotteries

The Licensing Authority registers and deals with
Small Society Lotteries. Promoting or facilitating a
lottery falls within one of the following categories:

n Licensed Lotteries (requiring an Operating
Licence from the Gambling Commission);

n Small Society Lotteries (registered with the
Licensing Authority); and

n Exempt Lotteries

Lotteries permitted to be conducted without a
licence from the Gambling Commission and
these are:

n Small Society Lotteries (registered with the
Licensing Authority);

n Incidental Non-Commercial Lotteries;

n Private Lotteries: (Private Society Lottery, Work
Lottery, Residents’ Lottery);

n Customer Lotteries

Societies may organise lotteries if they are licensed
by the Gambling Commission, registered with the
Licensing Authority or fall within the exempt
category. The Licensing Authority recommends
those seeking to run lotteries take their own legal
advice on which type of lottery category they fall
within. However, guidance notes with regard to all
lotteries, limits placed on small society lotteries and
information setting out financial limits is available by
contacting the Licensing Authority.

Applicants for lottery licences must apply to the
Licensing Authority in the area where their principal
office is located. Where the Licensing Authority
believes that the Society’s principal office is situated
in another area it will inform the Society as soon as

Page 39



        24

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

possible and where possible, will inform the other
Licensing Authority.

The Licensing Authority will keep a Public Register
of all applications and will provide information to the
Gambling Commission on all lotteries registered by
the Licensing Authority. As soon as the entry on the
Register is completed, the Licensing Authority will
notify the applicant of registration.

The Licensing Authority will ask applicants to set
out the purposes for which the Society is
established and will ask the Society to declare that
they represent a bona fide non-commercial society
and have no relevant convictions. The Licensing
Authority may seek further information from the
Society and in particular may require a copy of the
society’s constitution.

Where the Licensing Authority intends to refuse
registration of a Society, it will give the Society an
opportunity to make representations and will inform
the Society of the reasons why it is minded to
refuse registration and supply evidence on which it
has reached that preliminary conclusion.

The Licensing Authority may revoke the registered
status of a society if it thinks that they would have
had to, or would be entitled to, refuse an
application for registration if it were being made at
that time. However, no revocations will take place
unless the Society has been given the opportunity
to make representations. The Licensing Authority
will inform the society of the reasons why it is
minded to revoke the registration and will provide
an outline of the evidence on which it has reached
that preliminary conclusion.

With regards to where Small Society Lottery tickets
may be sold, the Licensing Authority applies the
following guidance criteria to all Small Society
Lotteries it registers:

n Tickets should not be sold in a street. Street
includes any bridge, road, lane, footway,
subway, square, court or passage (including
passages through enclosed premises such as
shopping malls); and

n Tickets may be sold from a kiosk, in a shop or
door-to-door.

This approach is consistent with the operating
licence conditions imposed by the Gambling
Commission upon operators of large lotteries.

8. Review

The statement of principles will remain in existence
for a period of three years and will be subject to
review and further consultation before December
2015. However, following consultation, the licensing
authority may make revisions to it as deemed
necessary.

9. Glossary: 

A glossary of terms is attached at Appendix 3.

Page 40



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    25

Appendix 1

Summary of licensing authority
delegations permitted under the
Gambling Act

Gambling Act 2005 - Scheme of Delegations 

1. The power of the Licensing Authority

a. as a responsible authority, to make
representations in respect of premises licences
under Part 8 of the Act;

b. to propose to attach a condition to a premises
licence in accordance with section 169(1)(a) of
the Act in addition to the mandatory or default
conditions;

c. to propose the exclusion of a default condition
from a premises licence under S169(1)(b)
of the Act;

d. as a responsible authority, to request a review
of a premises licence under sections 197 or 200
of the Act;

e. to give a notice of objection to a temporary use
notice under S221 of the Act;

f. to serve notification of intended refusal of any of
the following:

i. Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 
Machine Permit (Sch 10 Para 10)

ii. Prize gaming Permits (Sch 14 Para 11)

iii. Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 
Permits (Sch 13 Para 6)

And also, in the latter case, notice of 
intention to grant the application but for a 
smaller number of machines than 
specified and/or a different category of 
machines from that specified in the 
application.

g. Serve notification of lapse of a Family
Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permit
(Sch 10 Para 14 and 15 (1)(b));

h. Serve notice of intention to cancel or vary
any of the following:

i. Club Gaming permit or Club Gaming 
Machine permit (Sch 12 Para 21)

ii. Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 
permits (Sch 13 Para 16)

i. Create and amend the Authority’s application
procedures in relation to applications for the
following in accordance with any relevant
legislation:

i. Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 
Machine Permits (sch10 paras 5 and 7)

ii. Licensed Premises gaming Machine 
Permits (Sch 13 Para 2)

iii. Prize Gaming Permits (Sch 14 paras 6  
and 8); and

j. to appoint authorised persons under s 304
of the Act

k. determine that any representations received
under Part 8 of the Act are vexatious, frivolous,
or certainly will not influence the Authority’s
determination of an application; and

l. reject all or part of any application for a review
of a premises licence in accordance with
Section 198 of the Act

2. In relation to the following matters in the attached
table the Authority will, in the majority of cases,
adhere to the table of delegated functions set out
below. This table indicates the lowest level of the
Authority which will normally exercise the
delegation though the Authority reserves the right,
where appropriate, for any particular matter to be
dealt with at a higher level whilst having due regard
to statutory requirements. For example, an Officer
may choose not to exercise their delegated power
and refer the matter to the Sub-Committee or the
Sub-Committee itself may choose to refer the
matter to the Full Committee.

PART D
Appendices

Page 41



        26

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-committee of Licensing Committee
Authorised Officer

of the Council

Final approval of three year
licensing statement of
principles

x

Statement of principles not to
permit casinos x
Fee setting (when
appropriate) x
Application for premises
licenses (including
application for reinstatement
under S195)

Where representations have been received and not
withdrawn (S154 (4)(a)) and / or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a
condition should be added to the licence under S169
(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded under
section 169 (1)(b) unless the applicant and any
persons making representations agree to this course
of action and that a hearing is unnecessary

Where no
representations
received/representations
have been withdrawn

The only representations
received are vexatious,
frivolous, or certainly will
not influence the
Authority’s determination
of the application

Application for a variation to a
licence

Where representations have been received and not
withdrawn (S154 (4)(b)) and/ or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a
condition should be added to the licence under S169
(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded under
S169 (1)(b) unless the applicant and any persons
making representations agree to this course of action
and that a hearing is unnecessary (S187(3))

If the application for a variation is to remove a default
condition and there are no reps and there are no
proposals by the Authority to otherwise alter the
conditions this could be dealt with at officer lever
without a hearing

Where no
representations
received/representations
have been withdrawn

The only representations
received are vexatious,
frivolous, or certainly will
not influence the
Authority’s determination
of the application

Application for a transfer of a
licence

Where representations have been received from the
Commission S154 (4)(c)

Representations made and not withdrawn under S161

Where no
representations received
from the Commission

Including cases where
the only representations
received are vexatious,
frivolous, or certainly will
not influence the
Authority’s determination
of the application

Application for a provisional
statement

Where representations have been received and not
withdrawn S154 (4)(d) and/ or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a
condition should be added to the licence under
S169(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded
under S169(1)(b)

Where no
representations
received/representations
have been withdrawn

Revocation of a premises
licence due to non-payment
of an annual fee S193

x

Page 42



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    27

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-committee of Licensing Committee
Authorised Officer

of the Council

Review of a premises licence x
Application for club
gaming/club machine
permits, renewals and
variations (including those
leading to cancellation of
permit) under Sch12 para 15

Where objections have been made and not withdrawn
(Sch 12 Para 28(2))

Refusal of permit proposed on the grounds listed in
Sch12 para 6(1)(a)-(d), or para 10(3) as applicable
unless Authority and all relevant parties agree that a
hearing is unnecessary (Sch 12 para 7)

Where no objections
made/objections have
been withdrawn

Cancellation of club
gaming/club machine permits
Sch12 para 21

x

Applications for other permits,
registrations and notifications

Where the officer serves notice of intention of refusal
and representations are received or proposals to
grant for lesser number of machines than applied for

x

Cancellation of licensed
premises gaming machine
permits Sch 13 para 16

x

Cancellation of licensed
premises gaming machine
permits for non payment of
fee

x

Consideration of temporary
use notice (including notices
modified under S223)

Where an objection notice has been received unless
each person who would be entitled to make
representations agrees that a hearing is unnecessary

All cases where a counter notice may be required
(S232(3))

x

Decision to give a counter
notice to a temporary use
notice

x

Registration of small society
lotteries

Where officers believe there is a reason to refuse the
application for registration x

Cancellation of a small
society lottery due to
nonpayment of annual fee

x

X Indicates at the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated.

Page 43



        28

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

Appendix 2

South Holland District Council
Statement of Gambling Statement of Principles - Gambling Act 2005 

Persons consulted:

Lincolnshire County
Council Highways

Boston and South
Holland Division

West Street Boston Lincs PE21 8QR

Lincolnshire County
Council
Trading Standards

Witham Park House Units 1-10
Waterside South

Lincoln Lincs LN5 7JN

Lincolnshire County
Council
Director of Social
Services

Central Office,
Orchard House 

Orchard Street Lincoln Lincs LN1 1YL

John Hayes MP 10 Broad Street Spalding Lincs PE11 1TB

British Institute of
Innkeeping 

Wessex House 80 Park Street Camberley Surrey GU15 3PT

Mencap 123 Golden Lane London EC1Y 0RT

Help The Aged Age UK Tavis House, 1-6 Tavistock Square London WC1H 9NA

NSPCC Weston House 42 Curtain Road London EC2A 3NH

Church of England
Children's Society

Edward Rudolf House 69-85 Margery Street London WC1X 0JL

GAMCARE 2nd Floor 7-11 St Johns Hill London SW11 1TR

Alcoholics Anonymous PO Box 1 10 Toft Green York Y01 7ND

Magistrates Clerk Grantham Magistrates Court Harlaxton Road Grantham Lincs NG31 1SB

Association of
Racecourse
Bookmakers 

19 Hurst Lane Birmingham West Midlands B34 7HS

Citizens Advice Bureau Myddelton House 115-123 Pentonville Road London N1 9LZ

British Beer and Pub
Association 

Ground Floor
Brewers Hall 

Aldermanbury Square London London EC2V 7HR

British Amusement
Catering Trade
Associated

134-136 Buckingham
Palace Road 

London SW1W 9SA

Gamblers Anonymous PO Box 88 London SW10 0EU

Gala Bingo Head Office
New Castle House

Castle Boulevard Nottingham NG7 1FT

MIND 16a North Street Bourne Spalding Lincs PE10 9AB

Relate Lincolnshire 138 High Street Lincoln Lincs LN5 7PJ

Page 44



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    29

Samaritans PO Box 9090 Stirling Scotland FK8 2SA

Churches Together in
England

27 Tavistock Square London WC1H 9HH

Parent Line Plus
Lincolnshire 

CAN Mezzanine 49-51 East Road London N1 6AH

National Probation
Service

The Probation Office 1 English Grounds London SE1 2HJ

Community Care for
the Elderly

4 St Catherines Road Grantham Lincs NG31 6TS

Community
Development

South Holland District
Council 

Council Offices
Priory Road 

Spalding Lincs PE11 2XE

ASBO Officer South Holland District
Council 

Council Council Offices
Priory Road 

Spalding Lincs PE11 2XE

Salvation Army Hall Street Crowland Lincs PE6 0EW

Department for Culture
Media & Sport

2-4 Cockspur Street London SW1Y 5DH

British Association of
Social Workers

16 Kent Street Birmingham West Midlands B5 6RD

British Casino
Association

38 Grosvenor Gardens London SW1W 0EB

The National
Association of Round
Tables of GB and
Ireland 

Marchesi House 4 Embassy Drive,
Calthorpe Road 

Edgbaston Birmingham B15 1TP

Royal British Legion 48 Pall Mall London SW1Y 5JY

Bourne & District Lions
Club 

PO Box 57 Bourne Lincs PE10 9HB

United Lincolnshire
Hospitals

Johnson Community
Hospital 

Spalding Road Pinchbeck
Spalding

Lincs PE11 3DT

Barnardo's Head Office Tanners Lane Barkingside Ilford Essex IG6 1QG

International Children’s
Trust

67A Lincoln Road Peterborough Cambs PE1 2SD

Christian Centre for
Gambling
Rehabilitation

59 Birkenhead Street London WC1H 8BB

Association of Remote
Gambling

6th Floor,
52-54 High Holborn

High Holborn House London WC1V 6RL

Operators

William Hill Head Office
Greenside House

50 Station Road Wood Green London N22 7TP

The National Lottery PO Box 251 Watford WD18 9BR

Association of Head
Teachers

1 Heath Square Boltro Road Haywards Heath West Sussex RH16 1BL

Page 45



        30

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

Ladbrokes Betting
Shops 

Imperial House Rayners Lane Middlessex HA2 7JW

Citizens Advice Bureau c/o South Holland
District Council

Priory Road Spalding Lincs PE11 2XE

Cathedral City Coins 14 Sandra Crescent Washingborough Lincs LN4 1QZ

Hart-Marler Leisure The Flaxmill Flaxmill Lane Pinchbeck Lincs PE11 3YP

Jolly Roger Ltd College View Manby Middlegate Grimoldby Louth LN11 8HE

Lease Automatics 18 High Street Boston Lincs PE21 8SH

Premier Amusements 70 Sunningdale Drive Skegness Lincs PE25 1AU

Universal Logic Ltd 3 The Glebe Upton Gainsborough Lincs DN21 5PD

Eagle Enterprises The Retreat
Harby Lane 

Eagle Moor Lincoln LN6 9DS

Instance Assemblies 67 St Andrews Drive Skegness Lincs PE25 1DJ

Spilsby Amusement
Machines 

17 Station Road Halton Holegate Spilsby Lincs PE23 5PB

Wakley Automatics Ltd Unit 3, Alma Park Road Grantham Lincs NG31 9SE

S & D Bookmakers Ltd Head Office 29 Main Street Yaxley Peterborough PE7 3LZ

Sound & Vision 29 Barton Road Haslingfield Cambridge Cambs CB3 7LL

Clover Leisure Ltd Barcham Business
Park

Barcham Road Soham Ely Cambs CB7 5TU

Peterborough
Automatics Ltd

20 Godric Square Peterborough Cambs PE2 7JL

Martin's Reel Games
Ltd 

1 London Lane Great Paxton St Neots Cambs PE19 6RH

Cherry Automatics 12 Pembroke Avenue Waterbeach Cambs CB5 9QP

Shelford Coin Operated
Machines 

7 Watermead Bar Hill Cambridge Cambs CB23 8TJ

Micro Automatics New Bridge House Bridge Hill Road Peterborough Cambs PE6 7SA

Leisurelink 3 The Maltings Wetmore Road Burton-Upon-
Trent 

Staffs DE14 1SE

Coral Bookmakers Glebe House Vicarage Drive Barking Essex IG11 7NS

Addaction 67-69 Cowcross Street London Addaction EC1M 6PU

Regent Bingo 83 Westlode Street Spalding Lincs PE11 2AE

Harris Amusements 35-42 Lumley Road Skegness Lincs PE25 3NG

Mr Paul Bellringer OBE National Association
for Gambling Care,
Educational Resources
and Training 

1 Quarry Road Rusper Road Horsham RH12 5QN

Civic Trust Essex Hall 1-6 Essex Street London WC2R 3HU

Page 46



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    31

Catholic Children's
Society (East Anglia) 

Park Lane Peterborough Cambs PE1 5JW

The Lottery Syndicate
Club

45 Arundel Crescent Boston Lincs PE21 7QH

Gordon House
Association

43-47 Maughan Street Dudley DY1 2BA

South Holland
Community & Mental
Health Services

Long Sutton Medical
Centre 

Trafalgar Square Long Sutton
Spalding

Lincs PE12 9HB

Gambling Commission Victoria Square House Victoria Square Birmingham B2 4BP

Lincolnshire Police Licensing (Alcohol) Police Head Quarters PO Box 999 Lincoln LN5 7PH

Lincolnshire Fire and
Rescue

Boston Resource
Centre

Robin Hood's Walk Boston Lincs PE21 9ES

Planning Department South Holland District
Council 

Priory Road Spalding Lincs PE11 2XE

Lincolnshire
Safeguarding
Children’s Services 

Block B
Orchard House

Orchard House Lincoln LN1 1BA

HM Revenue and
Customs

National Registration
Unit 

Portcullis House 21 India Street Glasgow G2 4PZ

Responsible Authorities:

Page 47



        32

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

South Holland District Council

Applications for licences and permits as stated in the Statement of Principles

Notifications of temporary and occasional use notices

The Gambling Act 2005

Regulations made under the Gambling Act 2005

Any place, including a vehicle, vessel or moveable structure

Issued by the Licensing Authority to authorise premises to be used for the activities
as defined by Section 150 of the Gambling Act

Issued by the Gambling Commission to organisations and individuals who are
providing facilities for gambling as defined by Section 65 of the Gambling Act

Issued by the Gambling Commission to certain categories of people working in the
gambling industry as defined by Section 127 of the Gambling Act

The Act creates two classes of Family Entertainment Centres - Licensed: which
provide category C and D gaming machines and require a premises licence.

Unlicensed: which provide category D gaming machines in reliance on a Gaming
machine Permit.

Premises which provide category B, C and D gaming machines and require an
operating licence and a premises licence

A machine which is designed or adapted for use by individuals to gamble as
defined by Section 235 of the Gambling Act

A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a result of using the
machine is a money prize as defined in regulation 3(7) of the Categories of Gaming
Machine (Amendment) Regulations 2009. Maximum state 10p and the maximum
prize must be no more than £5

A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a result of using the
machine is a non-money prize as defined in regulation 3(7) of the Categories of
Gaming Machine (Amendment) Regulations 2009. For non-money prize machines
in general, the maximum stake (charge for use) must be no more than 30 pence,
and the maximum prize value must be no more than £8.

Council

Applications

Notification

Act

Regulations

Premises

Premises Licence 

Operator Licence 

Personal Licence                                                     

Family
Entertainment
Centre

Adult Gaming Centre

Gaming Machine 

Money Prize Machine

Non- Money Prize
Machine

Appendix 3

Glossary of terms under the Gambling Act 2005

Page 48



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    33

A crane grab machine is defined as a non-money prize machine in respect of which
two conditions are satisfied. The first is that every prize which can be won as a
result of using the machine consists of an individual physical object (such as a
stuffed toy).

The second is that whether or not a person using the machine wins a prize is
determined by the person’s success or failure in manipulating a device forming part
of the machine so as to separate and keep separate one or more physical objects
from a group of such objects. The maximum stake may be anything up to and
including £1, and the maximum prize value may be anything up to and including £50

These machines are commonly found in seaside arcades and are defined in
regulation 2(3) of the Categories of Gaming Machine Regulations 2007 with the
additional requirement that the machine be neither a money-prize nor a non-money
prize machine. The maximum stake may be anything up to and including 10 pence,
and the maximum prize value may be anything up to and including £15.

A  Maximum Stake: unlimited, Maximum Prize: unlimited

B1 Maximum Stake: £2, Maximum Prize: £4000

B2 Maximum Stake: £100 (in multiples of £10), Maximum Prize: £500

B3  Maximum Stake: £2, Maximum Prize: £500

B4  Maximum Stake: £1, Maximum Prize: £250

C  Maximum Stake: £1, Maximum Prize: £70

D  Maximum Stake: 10p or 30p when non- monetary prize,                
Maximum Prize: £5 cash or £8 non-monetary prize

A machine designed or adapted for use to bet on future real events as defined by
Section 235(2) (c) of the Gambling Act

Gambling in which persons participate by the use of remote communication as
defined by Section 4 of the Gambling Act

Communication using -

The internet

Telephone

Television

Radio, or

Any other type of electronic or other technology
as defined by Section 4(2) of the Gambling Act.

A fair wholly or principally providing amusements and that has been provided
wholly or principally by persons who travel from place to place for the purpose of
providing fairs, and

On a site used for fairs for no more than 27 days per calendar year

As defined by Section 286 of the Gambling Act

Crane Grab Machine

Coin Pusher or Penny
Fall Machine

Categories of
Gaming machines

Betting Machine 

Remote Gambling 

Remote Communication

Travelling Fair 

Page 49



        34

South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

Means any relevant code of practice under section 24 of the Gambling Act 2005

For the purposes of this Act, the following are responsible authorities
in relation to premises:

1. The Licensing Authority in whose area the premises are wholly or 
mainly situated South Holland District Council);

2. The Gambling Commission;

3. Lincolnshire Police;

4. Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue;

5. Planning Department, South Holland District Council;

6. Public Protection Manager, South Holland District Council

7. Lincolnshire Safe Guarding Children’s Board,                                    
Lincolnshire County Council;

8. HM Revenue and Customs.

9. Any other person/body prescribed by regulations.

For the purposes of this Act, a person is an interested party in relation to a
premises licence if, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority which issues the
licence or to which the application is made, the person:-

a) Lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be            
affected by the authorised activities;

b) Has business interests that might be affected by the            
authorised activities;

c) Represents persons who satisfy a) or b) above.

Whilst there is no statutory definition this authority considers that this group
includes people who gamble more than they want to; people who gamble beyond
their means; and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced
decisions about gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs. 

An angry, possibly violent, expression of dissatisfaction by an individual(s) or crowd
of people. Linked with the crime and disorder licensing objective.

An activity or event which causes annoyance or disturbance to an affected
individual(s). 

A scheme to enable individuals to request exclusion from premises licensed for
gambling activities.

Code of Practice 

Responsible Authority

Interested Party 

Vulnerable Persons

Disorder 

Nuisance 

Self-barring 

Page 50



South Holland DIstrict Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

    35

Appendix 4

Map of South Holland District

Page 51



        36

South Holland District Council

Council Offices

Priory Road

Spalding

Lincolnshire

PE11 2XE

tel 01775 761161

fax 01775 711054

email: licensing@sholland.gov.uk

www.sholland.gov.uk

Page 52



1

South Holland District Council
Policy (Statement of Principles)
Gambling Act 2005

2016 Draft Page 53



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

2

Contents
Part A
1. The Licensing objectives  4

2. Introduction   4
3. Declaration   5
4. Responsible Authorities   5
5. Interested Parties   6
6. Exchange of information   6
7. Enforcement   7
8. Licensing Authority functions   8
Part B - Premises licences: Consideration of Applications
1. General Principles   9
2. Adult Gaming Centres    14
3. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres    15
4. Casinos    15
5. Bingo premises    15
6. Betting premises   16
7.Tracks    16
8. Travelling fairs    17
9. Provisional Statements    18
10. Reviews    18
11. Appeals    19
Part C - Permits  / Temporary  and Occasional Use Notices
1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 20
2. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits   20
3. Prize Gaming Permits    21
4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits    22
5. Temporary Use Notices   23
6. Occasional Use Notices   23
7. Small Society Lotteries    23
8. Review    24
9. Glossary    24
Part D - Appendices
Appendix  1 - Summary of delegated powers   25

Appendix  2 - Persons consulted and Responsible Authorities    28

Appendix  3 - Glossary    32
Appendix  4 - Area map of district    35

Page 54



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

3

South Holland  District Council  - Statement  of Principles - Gambling  Act 2005

All references to the Guidance refer to the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities 5 th Edition, published September 2015

The Gambling Act 2005 requires every Licensing Authority to publish a Gambling Policy 
(Statement  of the Principles), which  they propose to apply when exercising their 
licensing functions.

This document is the Gambling Policy (Statement  of Principles) of 
South Holland District Council.

Whilst all applications will be judged and determined on their individual merits the policy 
will be the basis of the Licensing Authority’s decisions.

The policy will be reviewed regularly to reflect the needs of the district of South Holland.

Page 55



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

4

PART A

1.  The Licensing Objectives

In exercising most of their functions under the 
Gambling Act 2005, licensing authorities must 
have regard to the licensing objectives as set out 
in Section 1 of the Act.  The licensing objectives 
are:

i. preventing gambling from being a source of 
crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support 
crime.

ii. ensuring that gambling is conducted in a 
fair and open way.

iii. protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling.

It should be noted that the Gambling Commission 
has stated:  “The requirement in relation to 
children is explicitly to protect them from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling”.

This licensing authority is aware that, as per 
Section 153, in making decisions about premises 
licences and temporary use notices it should aim 
to permit the use of premises for gambling in so 
far as it thinks it:

i. in accordance with any relevant Code of 
practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission

ii. in accordance with any relevant guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission

iii. reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives and

iv. in accordance with the authority’s 
Statement of Licensing Policy.

2.  Introduction

South Holland District Council is situated in the 
county of Lincolnshire, which contains seven district 
councils in total.  The district has a population of 
88,300 (census 2011 figure) making it the second 
smallest district in the county in terms of 
population.  South Holland District covers a 
geographical area of 750 sqkm (290 square miles) 
and is situated in the south eastern corner of 
Lincolnshire, which borders the counties of 
Cambridgeshire and Norfolk.  The district is mainly 
rural and is comprised of 47 towns and villages 
including the main town of Spalding.  These areas 
are shown in the map attached at Appendix 4.

The Licensing Authority recognises its duties to 
consider the impact of all its functions and 
decisions on crime and disorder under the 
requirements of Section 17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 in adopting this statement of 
principles.  The Council acknowledges the benefits 
to the community of properly regulating gambling 
in the district.

The Licensing Act 2003 provides the delegated and 
procedural arrangements for the establishment of 
licensing authorities.

Licensing Committees established under Section 6 
of the Licensing Act 2003 are also relevant 
committees for the purpose of gambling functions.  
Therefore, the same Committee that deals with 
applications and other issues in relation to the 
Licensing Act 2003 will also be responsible for 
Premise Licence applications and other issues (i.e. 
permits) in relation to gambling.

Page 56



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

5

The proceedings of the Licensing Committee are 
regulated by Section 9 of the 2003 Act (and 
Regulations made under that Section).  Particular 
provision can be made for proceedings in relation 
to just the 2003 Act functions or just the 2005 Act 
functions.

The functions of the Licensing Authority under the 
Act may be carried out by the Committee of the 
Licensing Authority, by a Sub-Committee or by 
one or more officers acting under delegated 
authority.  Delegated powers shall be in 
accordance with the table at Appendix 1 of this 
document.

Licensing Authorities are required by the Gambling 
Act 2005 to publish a Statement of the Principles, 
which they propose to apply when exercising their 
functions.  This statement must be published at 
least every three years.  The statement must also 
be reviewed from “time to time” and any amended 
parts re-consulted upon.  The statement must be 
then re-published.

The Licensing Authority consulted upon this 
statement before finalising and publishing.  A list of 
those persons consulted is provided at Appendix 2.

The Gambling Act requires that the following 
parties are consulted by licensing authorities:

i. the Chief Officer of Police;

ii. one or more persons who appear to the 
authority to represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses in 
the authority’s area;

iii. one or more persons who appear to the 
authority to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the 
exercise of the authority’s functions under 
the Gambling Act 2005

The policy was approved at a meeting of the 
Licensing Committee and was subsequently 
submitted for approval at a meeting of the Full 
Council.

It will be published via the Council’s website.  
Copies of the Statement of Principles were 
available for inspection from the Council Offices at 
Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs.

Should you have any comments as regards this 
policy statement please send them via e-mail or 
letter to:

The Licensing Team, South Holland District 
Council, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, 
PE11 2XE

E-mail:  licensing@sholland.gov.uk 
Telephone:  01775 761161.

It should be noted that this Statement of Licensing 
Principles will not override the right of any person 
to make an application, make representations 
about an application, or apply for a review of a 
licence, as each will be considered on its own 
merits and according to the statutory requirements 
of the Gambling Act 2005.

3.  Declaration

In producing the final statement, this licensing 
authority declares that it has had regard to the 
licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities issued by the 
Gambling Commission, and any responses from 
those consulted on the Statement of Principles.

4.  Responsible Authorities

The Licensing Authority is required by Regulations 
to state the principles it will apply in exercising its 
powers under section 157(h) of the Act to 
designate, in writing, a body which is competent to 
advise the authority about the protection of children 
from harm.

The principles are:

i. the need for the body to be responsible for 
an area covering the whole of the licensing 
authority’s area;

Page 57



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

6

the need for the body to be answerable to 
democratically elected persons, rather than any 
particular vested interest group; and

ii. that this body is experienced in dealing with 
the protection of children

In accordance with the suggestion in the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Licensing 
Authorities, this authority designates the 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board for this 
purpose.

5.  Interested Parties

Interested parties can make representations about 
licence applications, or apply for a review of an 
existing licence.  These parties are defined in the 
Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

“For the purposes of this Part a person is an 
interested party in relation to an application for, or 
in respect of a Premises Licence if, in the opinion 
of the licensing authority which issues the licence 
or to which the application is made, the person:

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 
likely to be affected by the authorised activities,

b) has business interests that might be affected 
by the authorised activities, or

c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) 
or (b) e.g. members of parliament and ward 
councillors”.

The Licensing Authority is required by Regulations 
to state the principles it will apply in exercising its 
powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine 
whether a person is an interested party.

The principles are:

The Licensing Authority, in determining whether a 
person is an interested party, will consider each 
case on its merits.  The Authority will not apply a 
rigid rule to its decision making.  It will consider 
the examples of considerations provided in the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities at 8.11 to 8.17.  In reaching its decision, 
the Licensing Authority will consider factors such as 
the likelihood of the person/business being affected 
by the licensable activities at the premises as well 
as the geographical proximity.  Larger premises 
may affect people over a broader geographical 
area than smaller premises offering the same 
facilities.

Interested parties can be persons who are 
democratically elected such as Councillors and MPs.  
This will include county, borough and parish councillors 
providing they represent the ward likely to be affected.  
Other than these persons, the Licensing Authority will 
generally require written evidence that a person/body 
(e.g. advocate/relative) ‘represents’ someone who 
either lives sufficiently close to the premises likely to be 
affected by the authorised activity/activities and/or 
business interests that might be affected by the 
authorised activity/activities.  A letter from one of these 
persons requesting the representation is sufficient.

If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask 
them to represent their views then care should be 
taken that the Councillors are not part of the 
Licensing Committee dealing with the licence 
application.  If there are any doubts then please 
contact the Licensing Team. 

6.  Exchange of Information

The Licensing Authority may share information 
received in the exercise of its functions under 
Sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect to the 
exchange of information between it and the 
Gambling Commission and the functions under 
section 350 of the Act with respect to the exchange 
of information between it and the other persons 
listed in Schedule 6 to the Act.  These include a 
responsible authority as defined by the Act, a 
constable or police force, an authorised officer of 
another Licensing Authority, Her Majesty’s 
Commissioners of Customs and Excise, The 
Gambling Appeal Tribunal, The National Lottery 
Commission or the Secretary of State.

The Licensing Authority will act in accordance with 
the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of 
information which includes the provision that the 
Data Protection Act 1998 will not be contravened.

The Licensing Authority will also have regard to any 
Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to 
Local Authorities as well as any relevant regulations 
issued by the Secretary of State under powers 
provided in the Gambling Act 2005.

Page 58



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

7

The Licensing Authority will inform the Gambling 
Commission without delay if:

i. information that causes the Licensing 
Authority to question the suitability of a 
person or business holding or applying to 
hold an operating licence is received.

ii. there are persistent or serious disorder 
problems that an operator could or should 
do more to prevent, so that the Commission 
may consider the continuing suitability of 
the operator to hold an Operating Licence.

iii. if it comes to the Licensing Authority’s 
attention that alcohol-licensed premises, 
clubs or institutes are playing bingo during 
the course of a week which involves 
significant stakes and prizes that make it 
possible that £2,000 in seven days is being 
exceeded.

iv. any other reasonable and relevant 
information that the Licensing Authority is of 
the opinion the Gambling Commission 
should be made aware of.

Should any protocols be established as regards 
information exchange with other bodies then they 
will be made available.

The Council is a signatory to the joint protocol on 
information exchange under the provisions of 
Section 115 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
with the Lincolnshire Police and the Lincolnshire 
County Council.  The Council will seek to use that 
provision as appropriate.

7.  Enforcement

Licensing authorities are required by Regulation 
under the Gambling Act 2005 to state the 
principles to be applied by the authority in 
exercising the functions under Part 15 of the Act 
with respect to the inspection of premises; and 
the powers under section 346 of the Act to 
instigate criminal proceedings in respect of the 
offences specified.

The Licensing Authority’s principles are that:

It will be guided by the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance for local authorities and it will endeavour 
to be:

i. proportionate:  regulators should only 
intervene when necessary:  remedies should 
be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs 
identified and minimised;

ii. accountable:  regulators must be able to 
justify decisions, and be subject to public 
scrutiny;

iii. consistent:  rules and standards must be 
joined up and implemented fairly;

iv. transparent:  regulators should be open, and 
keep regulations simple and user friendly; 
and

v. targeted:  regulation should be focused on 
the problem, and minimise side effects

As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, this licensing authority will 
endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory 
regimes so far as possible.

The Licensing Authority will implement a risk-based 
inspection programme based on:

i. the Licensing Objectives

ii. relevant Codes of Practice

iii. guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission, in particular at Part 36

iv. the principles set out in this Statement of 
Licensing Policy.

The main enforcement and compliance role for the 
Licensing Authority in terms of the Gambling Act 
2005 is to ensure compliance with the premises 
licence and other permissions which it authorises.  
The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement 
body for the operating and personal licences.  It is 
also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, 
supply or repair of gaming machines are not being 
dealt with by the Licensing Authority but should be 
notified to the Gambling Commission.

Page 59



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

8

This Licensing Authority may carry out risk based 
regular operations with other agencies including 
the Gambling Commission and the Police to 
ensure the objectives are being promoted.  This 
includes test purchasing operations to ensure 
children and the vulnerable are being protected 
where required.  When undertaking test 
purchasing activities, this licensing authority will 
undertake to liaise with the Gambling Commission 
and the operator to determine what other, if any, 
test purchasing schemes may already be in place.  
Irrespective of the actions of an operator on their 
overall estate, test purchasing may be deemed to 
be an appropriate course of action.

As a general rule the licensing authority will 
consider formal action where there is evidence 
that the Licensing Objectives are being adversely 
affected.

Premises Licence Holders are advised that where 
following the receipt of a warning or warnings in 
relation to a Premises Licence breach or 
breaches, an operator subsequently breaches the 
licence conditions, the Licensing Authority will 
seek to review the Premises Licence.

The Licensing Authority keeps itself informed of 
developments as regards the work of the Better 
Regulation Executive in its consideration of the 
regulatory functions of local authorities.

In considering enforcement action, the Licensing 
Authority will bear in mind the Human Rights Act, 
in particular:

i. Article 1, Protocol 1 - peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions

ii. Article 6 - right to a fair hearing

iii. Article 8 - respect for private and family life

iv. Article 10 - right to freedom of expression

8.  Licensing Authority Functions

South Holland District Council, as the Licensing 
Authority, is responsible for the licensing of 
premises and the issue of permits and 
authorisations under the Gambling Act 2005.  The 
Authority’s main functions under the 2005 Act are:

i. be responsible for the licensing of premises 
where gambling activities are to take place 
by issuing Premises Licences

ii. issue Provisional Statements

iii. Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ 
welfare institutes who wish to undertake 
certain gaming activities via issuing Club 
Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine 
Permits

iv. issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial 
Clubs

v. grant permits for the use of certain lower 
stake gaming machines at unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centres

vi. receive notifications from alcohol licensed 
premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) for 
the use of two or fewer gaming machines

vii. issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 
Permits for premises licensed to sell/supply 
alcohol for consumption on the licensed 
premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, 
where there are more than two machines

viii. register small society lotteries below 
prescribed thresholds

ix. issue Prize Gaming Permits

x. receive and endorse Temporary Use Notices

xi. receive Occasional Use Notices

xii. provide information to the Gambling 
Commission regarding details of licences 
issued (see section above on ‘information 
exchange’)

xiii. maintain registers of the permits and 
licences that are issued under these 
functions

It should be noted that licensing authorities are not 
involved in licensing remote gambling at all, which 
is regulated by the Gambling Commission via 
Operating Licences.

This Policy is intended to provide clarity to 
applicants, interested parties and responsible 
authorities on how this Licensing Authority will 
determine applications.  Guidance is available to 
assist applicants:  the aforementioned guidance 
does not form part of this Policy.

Page 60



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

9

PART B
Premises Licences:  Consideration of Applications

1.  General Principles

Premises licences are subject to the requirements 
set out in the Gambling Act 2005 and regulations, 
as well as specific mandatory and default 
conditions, which are detailed in Regulations 
issued by the Secretary of State.  Licensing 
authorities are able to exclude default conditions 
and also attach others, where it is believed to be 
appropriate.

(a) Decision-making
This Licensing Authority is aware that in making 
decisions about Premises Licences it should aim 
to permit the use of premises for gambling in so 
far as it thinks it:

i. in accordance with any relevant Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

ii. in accordance with any relevant guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission;

iii. reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives; and

iv. in accordance with the authority’s 
Statement of Licensing Policy

It is appreciated that as per the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
“moral o r  e th ica l  objections to gambling are not 
a valid reason to reject applications for premises 
licences” and also that unmet demand is not a 
criterion for a Licensing Authority.

This licensing authority also notes Gambling 
Commission guidance on Appropriate Licensing 
Environment (previously Primary Gambling 
Activity). 

It is not permissible for an operator to offer gaming 
machines on a premise which is licensed for non-
remote betting but not to offer sufficient facilities for 
non-remote betting. A non-remote betting operating 
licence authorises its holder to ‘provide facilities for 
betting’ (s.65(2)(c) of the Act). Likewise, a betting 
premises licence authorises premises to be used for 
‘the provision of facilities for betting’ (s.150(1)(e) of 
the Act). The ability to make up to four gaming 
machines, within categories B2 – D available, is an

 additional authorisation conferred upon the holder of 
a betting premises licence (s.172(8) of the Act); it is 
not a free standing right to make gaming machines 
available for use. It follows that unless a betting 
premises operator offers sufficient facilities for betting 
it should not be making gaming machines available 
on the premises in question. 

This authority notes the Commission’s view that it 
is also important, in relation to the licensing 
objective of protecting vulnerable persons from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling, that 
customers should be offered a balanced mix of 
betting and gaming machines in licensed betting 
premises. Accordingly, an operating licence 
condition provides that gaming machines may be 
made available for use in licensed betting 
premises only at times when there are also 
sufficient facilities for betting available. In this 
respect, such facilities must include information 
that enables customers to access details of events 
on which bets can be made, make such bets, learn 
of the outcome and collect any winnings.  

(b) Definition of ‘premises’
Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”. 
Different Premises Licences cannot apply in 
respect of a single premises at different times.  
However, it is possible for a single building to be 
subject to more than one Premises Licence, 
provided they are for different parts of the building 
and the different parts of the building can be 
reasonably regarded as being different premises.  
This approach has been taken to allow large, 
multiple unit premises such as a pleasure park, 
track or shopping mall to obtain discrete Premises 
Licences, where appropriate safeguards are in 
place.  However, the Licensing Authority will pay 
particular attention if there are issues about sub-
division of a single building or plot and will ensure 
that mandatory conditions relating to access 
between premises are observed.  Each case 
should be judged on its individual merits.

Page 61



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

10

The Gambling Commission states in its guidance 
to Licensing Authorities that “in most cases the 
expectation is that a single building/plot will be the 
subject of an application for a licence, for 
example, 32 High Street.  That does not mean that 
32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate 
Premises Licences for the basement and ground 
floor, if they are configured acceptably.  Whether 
different parts of a building can properly be 
regarded as being separate premises will depend 
on the circumstances.  The location of the 
premises will clearly be an important consideration 
and the suitability of the division is likely to be a 
matter for discussion between the operator and 
the Licensing Officer.  However, the Commission 
does not consider that areas of a building that are 
artificially or temporarily separated, for example by 
ropes or moveable partitions, can be properly 
regarded as different premises”.

This Licensing Authority takes particular note of 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities which states that:

Licensing Authorities should take particular care in 
considering applications for multiple licences for a 
building and those relating to a discrete part of a 
building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  
In particular they should be aware of the following:

i. the third Licensing Objective seeks to 
protect children from being harmed by 
gambling.  In practice that means not only 
preventing them from taking part in 
gambling, but also

ii. preventing them from being in close 
proximity to gambling.  Therefore premises 
should be configured so that children are 
not invited to participate in, have 
accidental access to, or closely observe 
gambling where they are prohibited from 
participating.

iii. entrances to and exits from parts of a 
building covered by one or more Premises 
Licences should be separate and 
identifiable so that the separation of 
different premises is not compromised and 
people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area.  
In this context it should normally be 
possible to access the premises without 
going through another licensed premises 
or premises with a permit.

iv. customers should be able to participate in 
the activity named on the Premises 
Licence.

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the 
Licensing Authority should be aware of, which may 
include:

i. do the premises have a separate 
registration for business rates?

ii. is the premises’ neighbouring premises 
owned by the same person or someone 
else?

iii. can each of the premises be accessed 
from the street or a public passageway?

iv. can the premises only be accessed from 
any other gambling premises?

This Authority will consider these and other 
relevant factors in making its decision depending 
on all the circumstances of the case.

The Gambling Commission’s relevant access 
provisions for each premises type are 
reproduced below:

Casinos
i. the principal access entrance to the 

premises must be from a street (as defined 
at 7.25 of the Guidance)

ii. no entrance to a casino must be from 
premises that are used wholly or mainly by 
children and/or young persons

iii. no Customer must be able to enter a 
casino directly from any other premises 
which holds a gambling premises licence

Adult Gaming Centre
i. no customer must be able to access the 

premises directly from any other licensed 
gambling premises betting shops

ii. access must be from a street (as per para 
7.25 Guidance to Licensing Authorities) or 
from another premises with a betting 
premises licence.

iii. no direct access from a betting shop to 
another premises used for the retail sale of 
merchandise or services.  In effect there 
cannot be an entrance to a betting shop 
from a shop of any kind and you could not 
have a betting shop at the back of a café - 
the whole area would have to be licensed.

Page 62



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

11

Tracks
i. no customer should be able to access the 

premises directly from:

a. a casino

b. an adult gaming centre

Bingo Premises
i. no customer should be able to access the 

premises directly from:

a. a casino

b. an adult gaming centre

c. a betting premises, other than a 
track

Family Entertainment Centre
i. no customer must be able to access the 

premises directly from:

a. a casino

b. an adult gaming centre

c. a betting premises, other than a 
track

Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities contains further guidance on 
this issue, which this authority will also take into 
account in its decision making.

(c)  Premises ‘Ready for Gambling’
The Gambling Commission’s Guidance states that 
a licence to use premises for gambling should 
only be issued in relation to premises that the 
Licensing Authority can be satisfied are going to 
be ready to be used for gambling in the 
reasonably near future, consistent with the scale 
of the building or alterations required before the 
premises are brought into use.

If the construction of a premises is not yet 
complete, or if they need alteration, or if the 
applicant does not yet have a right to occupy 
them, then an application for a provisional 
statement can be made instead.

In deciding whether a Premises Licence can be 
granted where there are outstanding construction 
or alteration works at the premises, this authority 
will determine applications on their merits, 
applying a two stage consideration process:

i. first, whether the premises ought to be 
permitted to be used for gambling

ii. second, whether appropriate conditions 
can be put in place to cater for the situation 
that the premises are not yet in - the state 
in which they ought to be before gambling 
takes place.

Applicants should note that this authority is 
entitled to decide that it is appropriate to grant a 
licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged 
to grant such a licence.

More detailed example of the circumstances in 
which such a licence may be granted can be 
found at paragraphs 7.59-7.66 of the Gambling 
Commissions Guidance.

(d)  Location
The Licensing Authority is aware that demand 
issues cannot be considered with regard to the 
location of premises but that considerations in 
terms of the licensing objectives are relevant to its 
decision making.  As per the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, 
this authority will pay particular attention to the 
protection of children and vulnerable persons from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as 
issues of crime and disorder.  Should any specific 
policy be decided upon as regards areas where 
gambling premises should not be located, this 
statement will be updated.  It should be noted that 
any such policy does not preclude any application 
being made and each application will be decided 
on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant 
showing how potential concerns can be 
overcome.

(e)  Planning
The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing
Authorities states:

In determining applications, the licensing authority 
should not take into consideration matters that are 
not related to gambling and the licensing 
objectives. One example would be the likelihood of 
the applicant obtaining planning permission or 
building regulations approval for their proposal. 
Licensing authorities should bear in mind that a 
premises licence, once it comes into effect, 
authorises premises to be used for gambling. 
Accordingly, a licence to use premises for 
gambling should only be issued in relation to 
premises that the licensing authority can be 
satisfied are going to be ready to be used for 
gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent 
with the scale of building or alterations required 
before the premises are brought into use.

Page 63



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

12

This authority will not take into account any 
irrelevant matters as per the above Guidance.  In 
addition this authority notes the following excerpt 
from the Guidance:

When dealing with a premises licence application 
for finished buildings, the licensing authority 
should not take into account whether those 
buildings have or comply with the necessary 
planning or building consents.  Those matters 
should be dealt with under the relevant planning 
control and building regulation powers and not 
form part of the consideration for the premises 
licence.  Section 210 of the 2005 Act prevents 
Licensing Authorities taking into account the 
likelihood of the proposal by the applicant 
obtaining planning or building consent when 
considering a premises licence application.  
Equally the grant of a gambling premises licence 
does not prejudice or prevent any action that may 
be appropriate under the law relating to planning 
or building.

(f) Duplication with Other Regulatory 
Regimes
This Licensing Authority seeks to avoid any 
duplication with other statutory/regulatory systems 
where possible, including planning.  This authority 
will not consider whether a licence application is 
likely to be awarded planning permission or 
building regulations approval, in its consideration 
of it.  It will though listen to, and consider carefully, 
any concerns about conditions, which are not able 
to be met by licensees due to planning 
restrictions, should such a situation arise.  It is for 
the applicant to ensure that any other statutory 
requirements are complied with.

When dealing with a premises licence application 
for finished buildings, this authority will not take 
into account whether those buildings have to 
comply with the necessary planning or building 
consents.  Fire or health and safety risks will not 
be taken into account, as these matters are dealt 
with under relevant planning control, buildings and 
other regulations and must not form part of the 
consideration for the premises licence.

Local Risk Assessments - The Gambling 
Commission (the Commission) has introduced 
provisions in its social responsibility code within the 
Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP), 
which require gambling operators to assess the local 
risks to the licensing objectives posed by the 
provision of gambling facilities at each of their 
premises, and to have policies, procedures and 

control measures to mitigate those risks. The 
introduction of new provisions in the social 
responsibility code within the LCCP encourages local 
authorities, the Commission and the industry to work 
in partnership to address local issues and concerns. 
These changes take effect from 6 April 2016. 

Licensees must review (and update as necessary) 
their local risk assessments: 

 to take account of significant changes in 
local circumstances, including those 
identified in a licensing authority’s statement 
of licensing policy; 

 when there are significant changes at a 
licensee’s premises that may affect their 
mitigation of local risks; 

 when applying for a variation of a premises 
licence; and in any case, undertake a local 
risk assessment when applying for a new 
premises licence. 

Licensees should share their risk assessment with 
licensing authorities when applying for a premises 
licence or applying for a variation to existing licensed 
premises, or otherwise on request. It is expected that 
licensees will refer to the Licensing Authority’s Local 
Area Profile (if any) when compiling their risk 
assessments. 

Page 64



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

13

Licensing Objectives
Premises licences granted must be reasonably 
consistent with the licensing objectives.  With 
regard to these objectives, the Licensing 
Authority has considered the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
and some comments are made below.

Preventing gambling from being a source 
of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support 
crime
This Licensing Authority is aware that the 
Gambling Commission will be taking a leading 
role in preventing gambling from being a source 
of crime.  The Gambling Commission's Guidance 
does however envisage that Licensing Authorities 
should pay attention to the proposed location of 
gambling premises in terms of this licensing 
objective.  Thus, where an area has known high 
levels of organised crime this authority will 
consider carefully whether gambling premises 
are suitable to be located there and whether 
conditions may be suitable such as the provision 
of door supervisors.  This Licensing Authority is 
aware of the distinction between disorder and 
nuisance and will consider factors such as 
whether police assistance was required and how 
threatening the behaviour was to those who 
could see it, so as to make that distinction.

Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a 
fair and open way
This Licensing Authority has noted that the 
Gambling Commission states that it generally 
does not expect Licensing Authorities to become 
concerned with ensuring that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open way as this will be 
addressed via operating and personal licences.  
There is however, more of a role with regard to 
tracks which is explained in more detail in the 
'tracks' section - (see page 16).

Page 65



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

14

Protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling

This Licensing Authority has noted the Gambling 
Commission's Guidance states that this objective 
means preventing children from taking part in 
gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so 
that gambling products are not aimed at or are, 
particularly attractive to children).  The Licensing 
Authority will therefore consider, as suggested in 
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, whether 
specific measures are required at particular 
premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  
Appropriate measures may include supervision of 
entrances/machines, segregation of areas etc.

This Licensing Authority is also aware of the 
Gambling Commission Codes of Practice as 
regards this licensing objective, in relation to 
specific premises.

As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is 
noted that the Gambling Commission does not 
seek to offer a definition but states that “it will for 
regulatory purposes assume that this group 
includes people who gamble more than they want 
to; people who are gambling beyond their means; 
and people who may not be able to make 
informed or balanced decisions about gambling 
due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.”  
This Licensing Authority will consider this licensing 
objective on a case by case basis.

Conditions
Any conditions attached to licences will be 
proportionate and will be:

i. relevant to the need to make the proposed 
building suitable as a gambling facility

ii. directly related to the premises and the 
type of licence applied for

iii. fairly and reasonably related to the scale 
and type of premises and

iv. reasonable in all other respects.

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made 
on a case by case basis, although there will be a 
number of measures this Licensing Authority will 
consider utilising should there be a perceived 
need, such as the use of door supervisors and 
appropriate signage for adult only areas etc.  
There are specific comments made in this regard 
under some of the licence types below.  

This Licensing Authority will also expect the 
licence applicant to offer his/her own suggestions 
as to ways in which the licensing objectives can be 
met effectively.

This Licensing Authority will also consider specific 
measures which may be required for buildings 
which are subject to multiple premises licences.  
Such measures may include the supervision of 
entrances; segregation of gambling from non-
gambling areas frequented by children; and the 
supervision of gaming machines in non-adult 
gambling specific premises in order to pursue the 
licensing objectives.  These matters are in 
accordance with the Gambling Commission's 
Guidance.

This authority will also ensure that where Category 
C or above machines are on offer in premises to 
which children are admitted:

i. all such machines are located in an area of 
the premises which is separated from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical 
barrier which is effective to prevent access 
other than through a designated entrance;

ii. only adults are admitted to the area where 
these machines are located;

iii. access to the area where the machines are 
located is supervised;

iv. the area where these machines are located 
is arranged so that it can be observed by 
the staff or the licence holder; and

v. at the entrance to and inside any such 
areas there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is 
prohibited to persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises 
including buildings where multiple premises 
licences are applicable.

This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may 
be subject to one or more than one Premises 
Licence, provided each licence relates to a 
specified area of the track.  As per the Gambling 
Commission's Guidance, this Licensing Authority 
will consider the impact upon the third licensing 
objective and the need to ensure that entrances to 
each type of premises are distinct and that children 
are excluded from gambling areas where they are 
not permitted to enter.

Page 66



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

15

It is noted that there are conditions which the 
Licensing Authority cannot attach to premises 
licences which are:

i. any condition on the premises licence 
which makes it impossible to comply with 
an operating licence condition

ii. conditions relating to gaming machine 
categories, numbers, or method of 
operation

iii. conditions which provide that membership 
of a club or body be required (the 
Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes 
the membership requirement for casino 
and bingo clubs and this provision 
prevents it being reinstated) and

iv. conditions in relation to stakes, fees, 
winning or prizes.

Door Supervisors
If there are concerns that premises may attract 
disorder or be subject to unauthorised access by 
children and young persons, then the Licensing 
Authority may require that Door Supervisors 
control entrances to the premises.  The Licensing 
Authority recognises that each premises 
application shall be treated on its own merit.  In 
addition, the Licensing Authority shall take into 
account the previous trading history of the type of 
premises proposed and that any decision shall be 
necessary and proportionate.

Where door supervisors are imposed as a 
condition on a Premises Licence (except casino or 
bingo premises), Section 178 of the 2005 Act 
requires that any person employed in that 
capacity will hold a relevant licence issued by the 
Security Industry Authority (SIA).  There are 
however exemptions to this requirement i.e. ‘in-
house’ employees working as door supervisors at 
casino and bingo premises.

2.  Adult Gaming Centres

The Licensing Authority will specifically have 
regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited 
by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy 
the authority that there will be sufficient measures 
to, for example, ensure that under 18 year olds do 
not have access to the premises.

The Licensing Authority may consider measures 
to meet the licensing objectives, such as:

i. proof of age schemes

ii. CCTV

iii. supervision of entrances/machine areas 
(e.g. use of door supervisors)

iv. physical separation of areas

v. location of entry

vi. notices/signage (including the 
statutory requirement in relation to 
the display of GamCare stickers)

vii. specific opening hours

viii. self-exclusion schemes

ix. provision of information leaflets/helpline 
numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and 
is merely indicative of example measures.

The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to 
adopt an approved proof of age scheme (such as 
Challenge 21/25), for staff to be suitably trained 
and aware of the gambling laws, social 
responsibility and statutory requirements relating to 
age restrictions.

Page 67



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

16

3.  Licensed Family Entertainment 
Centres

This Licensing Authority will specifically have 
regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited 
by gambling and will expect the applicant to 
satisfy the authority, for example, that there will be 
sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year 
olds do not have access to the adult only gaming 
machine areas.  Children and young persons are 
permitted to enter an FEC and may play on 
Category D machines.  They are not permitted to 
play on Category C machines, and it is a 
requirement that there is clear segregation 
between the two types of machine, to prevent 
access by children and young persons to 
Category C machines.

This Licensing Authority may consider measures 
to meet the licensing objectives, such as:

i. CCTV

ii. supervision of entrances/machine areas 
(e.g. use of door supervisors)

iii. physical separation of areas

iv. location of entry

v. notices/signage (including the statutory 
requirement for GamCare stickers)

vi. specific opening hours

vii. self-exclusion schemes

viii. provision of information leaflets/helpline 
numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare

ix. measures/training for staff on how to deal 
with suspected truant school children on 
the premises

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is 
merely indicative of example measures.

This Licensing Authority will, as per the Gambling 
Commission’s guidance, refer to the 
Commission’s website to see any conditions that 
apply to operating licences covering the way in 
which the area containing the category C 
machines should be delineated.  This Licensing 
Authority will also make itself aware of any 
mandatory or default conditions on these 
premises licences, when they have been 
published.

4.  Casinos

No Casinos Resolution
This Licensing Authority has not passed a ‘no 
casino’ resolution under Section 166 of the 
Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it has the 
power to do so.  Should this Licensing Authority 
decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it 
will update this statement of principles with details 
of that resolution.  Any such resolution will be 
made by the Full Council.

5.  Bingo Premises

This Licensing Authority notes that the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance states “Licensing 
authorities need to satisfy themselves that bingo 
can be played in any bingo premises for which 
they issue a premises licence. An operator may 
choose to vary their licence to exclude a 
previously licensed area of that premises, and 
then apply for a new premises licence, or multiple 
new premises licences, with the aim of creating 
separate premises in that area. Essentially 
providing multiple licensed premises within a 
single building or site. Before issuing additional 
bingo premises licences, licensing authorities 
need to consider whether bingo can be played at 
each of those new premises”.

This authority also notes that from 13th July 2011 a 
holder of bingo premises licences may make 
available for use a number of category B gaming 
machines not exceeding 20% of the total number 
of gaming machines which are available for use on 
the premises. A licence variation must be applied 
for if operators wish to take advantage of this 
change to the legislation. 

Children and young people are allowed into bingo 
premises; however they are not permitted to 
participate in the bingo and if category B or C 
machines are made available for use these must 
be separated from areas where children and 
young people are allowed. Social responsibility 
code 3.2.5(3) states that licensees must ensure 
that their policies and procedures take account of 
the structure and layout of their gambling premises 
in order to prevent underage gambling. 

This authority also notes the Guidance at 
paragraph 18.8 regarding the unusual 
circumstances in which the splitting of a pre-
existing premises into two adjacent premises Page 68



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

17

might be permitted, and in particular that it is not 
permissible to locate sixteen category B3 gaming 
machines in one of the resulting premises, as the 
gaming machine entitlement for that premises 
would be exceeded.

In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance, the Licensing Authority recognises 
that it is important that if children are allowed to 
enter premises licensed for bingo that they do not 
participate in gambling, other than on Category D 
machines.  Where Category C or above 
machines are available in the bingo premises to 
which children are admitted, the Licensing 
Authority will seek to ensure that: 

Page 69



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

18

i. all such machines are located in an area of 
the premises separate from the remainder 
of the premises by a physical barrier which 
is effective to prevent access other than 
through a designated entrance;

ii. only adults are admitted to the area where 
the machines are located;

iii. access to the area where the machines are 
located is supervised;

iv. the area where the machines are located is 
arranged so that it can be observed by 
staff of the operator or the licence holder; 
and

v. at the entrance to, and inside any such 
area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is 
prohibited to persons under 18.

Where bingo is provided in alcohol-licensed 
premises and it reaches a certain threshold, it will 
no longer be authorised as equal chance gaming 
and a Bingo Operating Licence will need to be 
obtained from the Gambling Commission.  The 
aim of this provision is to prevent bingo becoming 
a predominant commercial activity on such non- 
gambling premises.

6.  Betting Premises

The Licensing Authority is responsible for issuing 
and monitoring Premises Licences for all betting 
premises.  Children and young persons are not 
permitted entry to a premise with a Betting 
Premises Licence.  They may, however, be 
permitted entry to tracks and special rules will 
apply.  The Licensing Authority recommends that 
an applicant for gaming machines in betting 
premises considers carefully the location of betting 
machines to ensure that they are not in sight of the 
entrance of the premises.

The Act contains a single class of licence for betting 
premises although within this there are different types 
of premises which require licensing. The Act also 
permits betting intermediaries to operate from 
premises (a betting intermediary is defined as a 
person who provides a service designed to facilitate 
the making or acceptance of bets between others). 
Although betting intermediaries usually offer their 
services via remote communication, such as the 
internet, a betting intermediary can apply for a betting 
premises licence to offer intermediary services upon 
the premises, such as a premises based trading 
room. 

Licensing authorities are responsible for issuing and 
monitoring premises licences for all betting premises. 
More information can be found in the Guidance. 

Self Service Betting Terminals (SSBTs) 

The Act provides that a machine is not a gaming 
machine if it is designed or adapted for use to bet 
on future real events. Some betting premises may 
make available machines that accept bets on live 
events, such as horse racing, as a substitute for 
placing a bet over the counter. These SSBTs are 
not gaming machines and therefore neither count 
towards the maximum permitted number of gaming 
machines, nor have to comply with any stake or 
prize limits. SSBTs merely automate the process 
that can be conducted in person and the Act 
exempts them from regulation as a gaming 
machine.

However, where a machine is made available to 
take bets on virtual races (that is, results and/or 
images generated by computer to resemble races 
or other events) that machine is a gaming machine 
and counts towards the maximum permitted 
number of gaming machines, and must meet the 
relevant category limitations for the premises. It is 
the Commission’s view that the use of SSBTs is a 
form of remote communication and that a remote 
licence will be required if SSBTs are used to 
facilitate the making or accepting of bets by others. 
S.181 contains an express power for licensing 
authorities to restrict the number of SSBTs, their 
nature and the circumstances in which they are 
made available by attaching a licence condition to 
a betting premises licence or to a casino premises 
licence (where betting is permitted in the casino).

7.  Tracks

Note there are currently no tracks operating in the 
district.  However, this Statement of Principles 
contains provision for the event of such a premise.

This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may 
be subject to one, or more than one premises 
licence, provided each licence relates to a 
specified area of the track.  As per the Gambling 
Commission's Guidance, this Licensing Authority 
will especially consider the impact upon the third 
licensing objective (i.e. the protection of children 
and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure 
that entrances to each type of premises are 
distinct and that children are excluded from 
gambling areas where they are not permitted to 
enter.Page 70



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

19

This Authority will therefore expect the premises 
licence applicant to demonstrate suitable 
measures to ensure that children do not have 
access to adult only gaming facilities.  It is noted 
that children and young persons will be permitted 
to enter track areas where facilities for betting are 
provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse 
racing takes place, but that they are still prevented 
from entering areas where gaming machines 
(other than category D machines) are provided.

This Licensing Authority may consider measures 
to meet the licensing objectives, such as:

i. proof of age schemes

ii. CCTV

iii. supervision of entrances/machine areas

iv. physical separation of areas

v. location of entry

vi. notices/signage (including the statutory 
requirement for GamCare stickers)

vii. specific opening hours

viii. self-exclusion schemes

ix. provision of information leaflets/helpline 
numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is 
merely indicative of example measures.

Page 71



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

20

Gaming Machines
Where the applicant holds a pool betting 
operating licence and is going to use the 
entitlement to four gaming machines, machines 
(other than category D machines) should be 
located in areas from which children are excluded.

Betting Machines
This Licensing Authority will, as per the Gambling 
Commission's Guidance, take into account the 
size of the premises and the ability of staff to 
monitor the use of the machines by children and 
young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 
to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering 
the number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer.

Applications and Plans
The Gambling Act (Section 151) requires 
applicants to submit plans of the premises with 
their application, in order to ensure that the 
Licensing Authority has the necessary information 
to make an informed judgment about whether the 
premises are fit for gambling.  The plan will also 
be used for the Licensing Authority to plan future 
premises inspection activity.  (See the Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, para 20.28).

Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular 
scale, but should be drawn to scale and should 
be sufficiently detailed to include the information 
required by Regulations.  (See Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, para 20.29)

This authority appreciates that it is sometimes 
difficult to define the precise location of betting 
areas on tracks.  The precise location of where 
betting facilities are provided is not required to be 
shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that 
betting is permitted anywhere on the premises and 
because of the difficulties associated with 
pinpointing exact locations for some types of track. 
Licensing authorities should satisfy themselves that 
the plan provides sufficient information to enable 
them to assess an application (see Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, para 20.46).   

8.  Travelling Fairs

This Licensing Authority is responsible for deciding 
whether where category D machines and/or equal 
chance prize gaming without a permit are to be 
made available for use at travelling fairs, the 
statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling 
amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at 
the fair is met.

The Licensing Authority will also consider whether 
the applicant falls within the statutory definition of a 
travelling fair.

It has been noted that the 27-day statutory 
maximum for the land being used as a fair, applies 
on a per calendar year basis and that it applies to 
the piece of land on which the fairs are held, 
regardless of whether it is the same or different 
travelling fairs occupying the land.  The Licensing 
Authority will work with its neighbouring authorities 
to ensure that land, which crosses our boundaries, 
is monitored so that the statutory limits are not 
exceeded.

Page 72



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

21

9.  Provisional Statements

Developers may wish to apply to this authority for 
provisional statements before entering into a 
contract to buy or lease property or land to judge 
whether a development is worth taking forward in 
light of the need to obtain a premises licence.  
There is no need for the applicant to hold an 
operating licence in order to apply for a 
provisional statement.

Section 204 of the Gambling Act provides for a 
person to make an application to the Licensing 
Authority for a provisional statement in respect of 
premises that he or she:

i. expects to be constructed;

ii. expects to be altered; or

iii. expects to acquire a right to occupy.

The process for considering an application for a 
provisional statement is the same as that for a 
premises licence application.  The applicant is 
obliged to give notice of the application in the 
same way as applying for a premises licence.  
Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties 
may make representations and there are rights of 
appeal.

In contrast to the premises licence application, the 
applicant does not have to hold or have applied 
for an operating licence from the Gambling 
Commission (except in the case of a track) and 
they do not have to have a right to occupy the 
premises in respect of which their provisional 
application is made.

The holder of the provisional statement may then 
apply for a premises licence once the premises 
are constructed, altered or acquired.  The 
Licensing Authority will be constrained in the 
matters it can consider when determining the 
premises licence application, and in terms of 
representations about premises licence 
applications that follow the grant of a provisional 
statement, no further representations from 
relevant authorities or interested parties can be 
taken into account unless:

i. they concern matters which could not have 
been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or

ii. they reflect a change in the applicant’s 
circumstances.

In addition, the authority may refuse the premises 
licence (or grant it on terms different to those 
attached to the provisional statement) only by 
reference to matters:

i. which could not have been raised by 
objectors at the provisional statement 
stage;

ii. which in the authority’s opinion reflect a 
change in the operator’s circumstances;

iii. where the premises have not been 
constructed in accordance with the plan 
submitted with the application.  This must 
be a substantial change to the plan and 
this Licensing Authority notes that it can 
discuss any concerns it has with the 
applicant before making a decision.

10.  Reviews

Requests for a review of a premises licence can 
be made by interested parties or responsible 
authorities.  However, it is for the Licensing 
Authority to decide whether the review is to be 
carried-out.  This will be on the basis of whether 
the request for the review is relevant to the matters 
listed below:

i. in accordance with any relevant Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

ii. in accordance with any relevant guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission;

iii. reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives; and

iv. in accordance with the Authority’s 
Statement of Principles.

The request for the review will also be subject to 
the consideration by the Authority as to whether 
the request is frivolous, vexatious or whether it will 
certainly not cause this authority to wish to 
alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is 
substantially the same as previous representations 
or requests for review.

The Licensing Authority can also initiate a review 
of a particular premises licence, or a particular 
class of premises licence on the basis of any 
reason which it thinks appropriate.

Page 73



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

22

Once a valid application for review has been 
received by the Licensing Authority, 
representations can be made by responsible 
authorities and interested parties during a 28 day 
period.  This period begins seven  days after the 
application was received by the Licensing 
Authority, who will publish notice of the application 
within seven days of receipt.

The Licensing Authority must carry out the review 
as soon as possible after the 28 day period for 
making representations has passed.

The purpose of the review will be to determine 
whether the Licensing Authority should take any 
action in relation to the licence.  If action is 
justified, the options open to the Licensing 
Authority are:

i. add, remove or amend a licence condition 
imposed by the Licensing Authority;

ii. exclude a default condition imposed by the 
Secretary of State (e.g. opening hours) or 
remove or amend such an exclusion;

iii. suspend the premises licence for a period 
not exceeding three months; and

iv. revoke the premises licence.

In determining what action, if any, should be taken 
following a review, the Licensing Authority must 
have regard to the principles set out in Section 
153 of the Act, as well as any relevant 
representation.

In particular, the Licensing Authority may also 
initiate a review of a premises licence on the 
grounds that a premises licence holder has not 
provided facilities for gambling at the premises.  
This is to prevent people from applying for 
licences in a speculative manner without intending 
to use them.

Once the review has been completed, the 
Licensing Authority must, as soon as possible, 
notify its decision to:

i. the licence holder

ii. the applicant for review (if any)

iii. the Gambling Commission

iv. any person who made a representations

v. the Chief Officer of Police or Chief 
Constable

vi. Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue 
and Customs.

11.  Appeals

There is a right of appeal both for applicants and 
those who have made relevant representations or 
applied for a review.  This appeal must be lodged 
within a period of 21 days from the day on which 
the applicant was notified by the Licensing 
Authority of the decision and must be made to the 
Magistrates’ Court.

Page 74



Page 75



20

PART C
Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notices

1.  Unlicensed Family Entertainment 
Centre Gaming Machine Permits 
(Statement of Principles on Permits – 
Schedule 10, Para 7

Where premises do not hold a premises licence 
but wishes to provide Category D gaming 
machines, it may apply to the Licensing Authority 
for this permit.  It should be noted that the 
applicant must show that the premises will be 
wholly or mainly used for making gaming 
machines available for use (Section 238).

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a Licensing 
Authority may prepare a Statement of Principles 
that they propose to consider in determining the 
suitability of an applicant for a permit and in 
preparing this Statement, and/or considering 
applications, it need not (but may) have regard to 
the licensing objectives and shall have regard to 
any relevant guidance issued by the Commission 
under section 25.  The Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities also states “In 
its policy statement, a licensing authority may 
include a statement of principles that it proposes 
to apply when exercising its functions in 
considering applications for permits. In particular it 
may want to set out the matters that it will take into 
account in determining the suitability of the 
applicant. Given that the premises is likely to 
appeal particularly to children and young persons, 
licensing authorities may wish to give weight to 
matters relating to protection of children from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling and to 
ensure that staff supervision adequately reflects 
the level of risk to this group’.

Guidance also states:  “...An application for a 
permit may be granted only if the Licensing 
Authority is satisfied that the premises will be used 
as an unlicensed FEC, and if the Chief Officer of 
Police has been consulted on the application.  
Licensing Authorities might wish to consider 
asking applicants to demonstrate:

i. a full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs;

ii. that the applicant has no relevant 
convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act; and

iii. that staff are trained to have a full 
understanding of the maximum stakes and 
prizes. (24.7)

It should be noted that a Licensing Authority 
cannot attach conditions to this type of permit.

Statement of Principles
This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant 
to show that there are policies and procedures in 
place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this 
context is not limited to harm from gambling but 
includes wider child protection considerations.

The efficiency of such policies and procedures will 
each be considered on their merits.  However, they 
may include appropriate measures/training for 
staff as regards suspected truant school children 
on the premises, measures/training covering how 
staff would deal with unsupervised very young 
children being on the premises, or children 
causing perceived problems on/around the 
premises.

This Licensing Authority will also expect, as per 
Gambling Commission Guidance, that applicants 
demonstrate a full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs;  that the 
applicant has no relevant convictions (those that 
are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act);  and that 
staff are trained to have a full understanding of the 
maximum stakes and prizes.

2.  (Alcohol) Licensing Premises 
Gaming Machine Permits and 
Notifications (Schedule 13, Paragraph 
4(1))

Automatic Entitlement:  Two machines
There is provision in the Act for premises licensed 
to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises, 
to automatically have two gaming machines, of 
categories C and/or D.  The premises merely need 
to notify the Licensing Authority and pay the 
prescribed fee.

Page 76



21

South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

The Licensing Authority however, can remove the 
automatic authorisation in respect of any 
particular premises if:

i. provision of the machines is not 
reasonably consistent with the pursuit of 
the licensing objectives;

ii. gaming has taken place on the premises 
that breaches a condition of Section 282 of 
the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice 
has been provided to the Licensing 
Authority, that a fee has been provided and 
that any relevant Code of Practice issued 
by the Gambling Commission about the 
location and operation of the machine has 
been complied with);

iii. the premises are mainly used for gaming;  
or

iv. an offence under the Gambling Act has 
been committed on the premises

Permits:  Three or more machines
If a premises wishes to have more than two 
machines, then it needs to apply for a permit and 
the Licensing Authority must consider that 
application based upon the licensing objectives, 
any guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission issued under Section 25 of the 
Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they 
think relevant”.  The Licensing Authority considers 
that “such matters” will be decided on a case by 
case basis but generally there will be regard to the 
need to protect children and vulnerable persons 
from harm or being exploited by gambling and will 
expect the applicant to satisfy the Authority that 
there will be sufficient measures to ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the 
adult only gaming machines.  Measures which will 
satisfy the Authority that there will be no access 
may include the adult machines being in sight of 
the bar, or in the sight of staff who will monitor that 
the machines are not being used by those under 
18.  Notices and signage may also be help.  As 
regards the protection of vulnerable persons 
applicants may wish to consider the provision of 
information leaflets and helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare.

It is recognised that some alcohol-licensed 
premises may apply for a premises licence for 
their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such 
application would most likely need to be applied 
for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre 
premises licence.

It should be noted that the Licensing Authority can 
decide to grant the application with a smaller 
number of machines and/or a different category of 
machines than that applied for.  Conditions (other 
than these) cannot be attached.

It should also be noted that the holder of a permit 
must comply with any Code of Practice issued by 
the Gambling Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine.

3.  Prize Gaming Permits

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a Licensing 
Authority may “prepare a Statement of Principles 
that they propose to apply in exercising their 
functions under this schedule” which “may, in 
particular, specify matters that the Licensing 
Authority propose to consider in determining the 
suitability of the applicant for a permit”.

This Licensing Authority has prepared a Statement 
of Principles which is that the applicant should set 
out the types of gaming that he or she is intending 
to offer and that the applicant should be able to 
demonstrate:

i. that they understand the limits to stakes 
and prizes that are set out in Regulations;

ii. and that the gaming offered is within the 
law.

iii. clear polices that outline steps to be taken 
to protect children from harm.

In making its decision on an application for this 
permit the Licensing Authority does not need to, 
(but may) have regard to, the licensing objectives 
but must have regard to any Gambling 
Commission guidance.  (Gambling Act 2005, 
Schedule 14 paragraph 8(3)).

It should be noted that there are conditions in the 
Gambling Act 2005 by which the permit holder 
must comply, but that the Licensing Authority 
cannot attach conditions.  The conditions in the 
Act are:

i. the limits on participation fees, as set out in 
Regulations, must be complied with;

Page 77



22

South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

ii. all chances to participate in the gaming 
must be allocated on the premises on 
which the gaming is taking place and on 
one day; the game must be played and 
completed on the day the chances are 
allocated; and the result of the game must 
be made public in the premises on the day 
that it is played;

iii. the prize for which the game is played must 
not exceed the amount set out in 
Regulations (if a money prize), or the 
prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); 
and

iv. participation in the gaming must not entitle 
the player to take part in any other 
gambling.

4.  Club Gaming and Club Machine 
Permits

Members clubs and miners’ welfare institutes (but 
not commercial clubs) may apply for a Club 
Gaming Permit or a Club Gaming Machine Permit 
(Commercial Clubs cannot apply for a Club 
Gaming Permit).  The Club Gaming Permit will 
enable the premises to provide gaming machines 
(three machines of categories B, C or D), equal 
chance gaming and games of chance as set out in 
Regulations.  A Club Gaming Machine Permit will 
enable the premises to provide gaming machines 
(three machines of categories B, C or D).

Gambling Commission guidance states:

Members’ clubs must have at least 25 members 
and be established and conducted ‘wholly or 
mainly’ for purposes other than gaming, unless 
the gaming is permitted by separate Regulations.  
The Secretary of State has made such 
Regulations and these cover bridge and whist 
clubs.  A members’ club must be permanent in 
nature and established and conducted for the 
benefit of its members and not as a commercial 
enterprise.  Examples include working men’s 
clubs, branches of the Royal British Legion and 
clubs with political affiliations.

The Commission Guidance also notes that Licensing 
Authorities may only refuse an application on the 
grounds that:

a) i) for a club gaming permit: the applicant is not a 
members’ club or miners’ welfare institute 
ii) for a club machine permit: the applicant is not a 
members’ club, miners’ welfare institute or 
commercial club 
b) the premises are used by children and/or young 
persons 
c) an offence or a breach of a permit has been 
committed by an applicant 
d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled 
in the previous ten years e) an objection has been lodged by the Gambling Commission or the police.

There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available 
under the Act for premises which hold a Club 
Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 
(Schedule 12 Paragraph 10).  As the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance for local authorities 
states:  “Under the fast-track procedure there is no 
opportunity for objections to be made by the 
Commission or the police, and the ground upon 
which an authority can refuse a permit are 
reduced.”  And “The grounds on which an 
application under the process may be refused are:

i. that the club is established primarily for 
gaming, other than gaming prescribed 
under Schedule 12;

ii. that in addition to the prescribed gaming, 
the applicant provides facilities for other 
gaming; or

iii. that a club gaming permit or club machine 
permit issued to the applicant in the last 
ten years has been cancelled.”

There are statutory conditions on club gaming 
permits that no child uses a category B or C 
machine on the premises and that the holder 
complies with any relevant provision of a Code of 
Practice about the location and operation of 
gaming machines.

Page 78



23

South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

5.  Temporary Use Notices

Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises 
for gambling where there is no premises licence 
but where a gambling operator wishes to use the 
premises temporarily for providing facilities for 
gambling.  Premises that might be suitable for a 
Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling 
Commission, would include hotels, conference 
centres and sporting venues.

The Licensing Authority can only grant a 
Temporary Use Notice to a person or company 
holding a relevant operating licence i.e. a non-
remote casino operating licence.

The Secretary of State has the power to determine 
what form of gambling can be authorised by 
Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing 
this statement the relevant Regulations (SI no 
3157:  The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use 
Notices) Regulations 2007) state that Temporary 
Use Notices can only be used to permit the 
provision of facilities for equal chance gaming, 
where the gaming is intended to produce a single 
winner, which in practice means poker 
tournaments.

There are a number of statutory limits as regards 
Temporary Use Notices.  The meaning of 
“premises” in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in 
Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities.  As with “premises”, the 
definition of “a set of premises” will be a question 
of fact in the particular circumstances of each 
notice that is given.  In the Act “premises” is 
defined as including “any place”.  In considering 
whether a place falls within the definition of a “set 
of premises” the Licensing Authority needs to look 
at, amongst other things, the 
ownership/occupation and control of the 
premises.

The Licensing Authority expects to object to 
notices where it appears that their effect would be 
to permit regular gambling in a place that could be 
described as one set of premises, as 
recommended in the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.

6.  Occasional Use Notices

The Licensing Authority has very little discretion 
as regards these notices aside from ensuring that 
the statutory limit of eight days in a calendar year 
is not exceeded.  This Licensing Authority will 
though consider the definition of a ‘track’ and 
whether the applicant is permitted to avail 
him/herself of the notice.

7.  Small Society Lotteries

The Licensing Authority registers and deals with 
Small Society Lotteries.  Promoting or facilitating a 
lottery falls within one of the following categories:

i. Licensed Lotteries (requiring an Operating 
Licence from the Gambling Commission);

ii. Small Society Lotteries (registered with the 
Licensing Authority); and

iii. Exempt Lotteries

Lotteries permitted to be conducted without a 
licence from the Gambling Commission and these 
are:

i. Small Society Lotteries (registered with the 
Licensing Authority);

ii. Incidental Non-Commercial Lotteries;

iii. Private Lotteries:  (Private Society Lottery, 
Work Lottery, Residents’ Lottery);

iv. Customer Lotteries

Societies may organise lotteries if they are 
licensed by the Gambling Commission, registered 
with the Licensing Authority or fall within the 
exempt category.  The Licensing Authority 
recommends those seeking to run lotteries take 
their own legal advice on which type of lottery 
category they fall within.  However, guidance 
notes with regard to all lotteries, limits placed on 
small society lotteries and information setting out 
financial limits is available by contacting the 
Licensing Authority.

Applicants for lottery licences must apply to the 
Licensing Authority in the area where their 
principal office is located.  Where the Licensing 
Authority believes that the Society’s principal 
office is situated in another area it will inform the 
Society as soon as possible and where possible, 
will inform the other Licensing Authority.

Page 79



24

South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

The Licensing Authority will keep a Public Register 
of all applications and will provide information to 
the Gambling Commission on all lotteries 
registered by the Licensing Authority.  As soon as 
the entry on the Register is completed, the 
Licensing Authority will notify the applicant of 
registration.

The Licensing Authority will ask applicants to set 
out the purposes for which the Society is 
established and will ask the Society to declare that 
they represent a bona fide non-commercial 
society and have no relevant convictions.  The 
Licensing Authority may seek further information 
from the Society and in particular may require a 
copy of the Society’s constitution.

Where the Licensing Authority intends to refuse 
registration of a Society, it will give the Society an 
opportunity to make representations and will 
inform the Society of the reasons why it is minded 
to refuse registration and supply evidence on 
which it has reached that preliminary conclusion.

The Licensing Authority may revoke the registered 
status of a Society if it thinks that they would have 
had to, or would be entitled to, refuse an 
application for registration if it were being made at 
that time.  However, no revocations will take place 
unless the Society has been given the opportunity 
to make representations.  The Licensing Authority 
will inform the Society of the reasons why it is 
minded to revoke the registration and will provide 
an outline of the evidence on which it has reached 
that preliminary conclusion.

With regards to where Small Society Lottery 
tickets may be sold, the Licensing Authority 
applies the following guidance criteria to all Small 
Society Lotteries it registers:

i. tickets should not be sold in a street.  
Street includes any bridge, road, lane, 
footway, subway, square, court or passage 
(including passages through enclosed 
premises such as shopping malls); and

ii. tickets may be sold from a kiosk, in a shop 
or door-to-door.

This approach is consistent with the operating 
licence conditions imposed by the Gambling 
Commission upon operators of large lotteries.

8.  Review

The Statement of Principles will remain in 
existence for a period of three years. However, 
following consultation, the Licensing Authority 
may make revisions to it as deemed necessary.

9.  Glossary

A glossary of terms is attached at Appendix 3.

Page 80



25

South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

PART D
Appendices

Appendix 1
Summary of Licensing Authority 
Delegations Permitted Under the 
Gambling Act

Gambling Act 2005 - Scheme of Delegations
1. The power of the Licensing Authority 

i. as a responsible authority, to make 
representations in respect of premises 
licences under Part 8 of the Act;

ii. to propose to attach a condition to a 
premises licence in accordance with 
Section 169(1)(a) of the Act in addition to 
the mandatory or default conditions;

iii. to propose the exclusion of a default 
condition from a premises licence under 
S169(1)(b) of the Act;

iv. as a Responsible Authority, to request a 
review of a premises licence under 
sections 197 or 200 of the Act;

v. to give a notice of objection to a temporary 
use notice under S221 of the Act;

vi. to serve notification of intended refusal of 
any of the following:

a. Family Entertainment Centre 
Gaming Machine Permit (Sch 10 
Para 10)

b. Prize Gaming Permits (Sch 14 Para 
11)

c. Licensed Premises Gaming 
Machine Permits (Sch 13 Para 6)

And also, in the latter case, notice of 
intention to grant the application but for a 
smaller number of machines than specified 
and/or a different category of machines from 
that specified in the application.

vii. Serve notification of lapse of a Family 
Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine 
Permit (Sch 10 Para 14 and 15 (1)(b));

viii. serve notice of intention to cancel or vary 
any of the following:

a. Club Gaming permit or Club 
Gaming Machine permit (Sch 12 
Para 21)

b. Licensed Premises Gaming 
Machine permits (Sch 13 Para 16)

ix. create and amend the Authority’s 
application procedures in relation to 
applications for the following in 
accordance with any relevant legislation:

a. Family Entertainment Centre 
Gaming Machine Permits (sch10 
paras 5 and 7)

b. Licensed Premises Gaming 
Machine Permits (Sch 13 Para 2)

c. Prize Gaming Permits (Sch 14 
paras 6 and 8); and

x. to appoint authorised persons under s 304 
of the Act

xi. determine that any representations 
received under Part 8 of the Act are 
vexatious, frivolous, or certainly will not 
influence the Authority’s determination of 
an application; and

xii. reject all or part of any application for a 
review of a premises licence in accordance 
with Section 198 of the Act

2. In relation to the following matters in the 
attached table the Authority will, in the 
majority of cases, adhere to the table of 
delegated functions set out below.  This table 
indicates the lowest level of the Authority 
which will normally exercise the Delegation 
though the Authority reserves the right, where 
appropriate, for any particular matter to be 
dealt with at a higher level whilst having due 
regard to statutory requirements.  For 
example, an Officer may choose not to 
exercise their delegated power and refer the 
matter to the Sub-Committee or the Sub-
Committee itself may choose to refer the 
matter to the Full Committee.

Page 81



26

South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-Committee of Licensing Committee Authorised Officer 
of the Council

Final approval of three year 
Licensing Statement of 
Principles

x
Statement of Principles not to 
permit casinos x
Fee setting (when 
appropriate) x
Application for premises 
licenses (including 
application for reinstatement 
under S195)

Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn (S154 (4)(a))

and / or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under S169 
(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded under 
section 169 (1)(b) unless the applicant and any 
persons making representations agree to this course 
of action and that a hearing is unnecessary

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn

The only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application

Application for a variation to a 
licence

Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn (S154 (4)(b)) 

and/ or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under S169 
(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded under 
S169 (1)(b) unless the applicant and any persons 
making representations agree to this course of action 
and that a hearing is unnecessary (S187(3))

If the application for a variation is to remove a default 
condition and there are no reps and there are no 
proposals by the Authority to otherwise alter the 
conditions this could be dealt with at officer level 
without a hearing

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn

The only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application

Application for a transfer of a 
licence

Where representations have been received from the 
Commission S154 (4)(c)

Representations made and not withdrawn under S161

Where no 
representations received 
from the Commission

Including cases where 
the only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application

Application for a provisional 
statement

Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn S154 (4)(d) 

and/ or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under 
S169(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded 
under S169(1)(b)

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn

Revocation of a premises 
licence due to non-payment 
of an annual fee S193

x

Page 82



27

South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-Committee of Licensing Committee Authorised Officer 
of the Council

Review of a premises licence x
Application for club 
gaming/club machine 
permits, renewals and 
variations (including those 
leading to cancellation of 
permit) under Sch12 para 15

Where objections have been made and not withdrawn 
(Sch 12 Para 28(2))

Refusal of permit proposed on the grounds listed in 
Sch12 para 6(1)(a)-(d), or para 10(3) as applicable 
unless Authority and all relevant parties agree that a 
hearing is unnecessary (Sch 12 para 7)

Where no objections 
made/objections have 
been withdrawn

Cancellation of club 
gaming/club machine permits 
Sch12 para 21

x
Applications for other permits, 
registrations and notifications

Where the officer serves notice of intention of refusal 
and representations are received or proposals to 
grant for lesser number of machines than applied for x

Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits Sch 13 para 16

x
Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits for non-payment of 
fee

x

Consideration of temporary 
use notice (including notices 
modified under S223)

Where an objection notice has been received unless 
each person who would be entitled to make 
representations agrees that a hearing is unnecessary

All cases where a counter notice may be required
(S232(3))

x

Decision to give a counter 
notice to a temporary use 
notice

x
Registration of small society 
lotteries

Where officers believe there is a reason to refuse the 
application for registration x

Cancellation of a small 
society lottery due to 
nonpayment of annual fee

x

X Indicates at the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated.

Page 83



28

South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

Appendix 2
South Holland District Council
Statement of Gambling Statement of 
Principles – Gambling Act 2005
Persons  consulted:

Lincolnshire County 
Council Highways

Boston and South 
Holland Division

West Street Boston Lincs PE21 8QR

Lincolnshire County 
Council
Trading Standards

Witham Park House Units 1-10 Waterside 
South

Lincoln Lincs LN5 7JN

Lincolnshire County 
Council
Director of Social 
Services

Central Office, 
Orchard House

Orchard Street Lincoln Lincs LN1 1YL

John Hayes MP 10 Broad Street Spalding Lincs PE11 1TB

British Institute of 
Innkeeping

Wessex House 80 Park Street Camberley Surrey GU15 3PT

Mencap 123 Golden Lane London EC1Y 0RT

Help The Aged Age UK Tavis House, 1-6 Tavistock Square London WC1H 9NA

NSPCC Weston House 42 Curtain Road London EC2A 3NH

Church of England 
Children's Society

Edward Rudolf House 69-85 Margery Street London WC1X 0JL

GAMCARE 2nd Floor 7-11 St Johns Hill London SW11 1TR

Alcoholics Anonymous PO Box 1 10 Toft Green York Y01 7ND

Magistrates Clerk Grantham Magistrates Court Harlaxton Road Grantham Lincs NG31 1SB

Association of 
Racecourse 
Bookmakers

19 Hurst Lane Birmingham West Midlands B34 7HS

Citizens Advice Bureau Myddelton House 115-123 Pentonville Road London N1 9LZ

British Beer and Pub 
Association

Ground Floor
Brewers Hall

Aldermanbury Square London London EC2V 7HR

British Amusement 
Catering Trade 
Associated

134-136 Buckingham
Palace Road

London SW1W 9SA

Gamblers Anonymous PO Box 88 London SW10 0EU

Gala Bingo Head Office
New Castle House

Castle Boulevard Nottingham NG7 1FT

MIND 16a North Street Bourne Spalding Lincs PE10 9AB

Relate Lincolnshire 138 High Street Lincoln Lincs LN5 7PJ

Page 84



29

South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

Samaritans PO Box 9090 Stirling Scotland FK8 2SA

Churches Together in 
England

27 Tavistock Square London WC1H 9HH

Parent Line Plus 
Lincolnshire

CAN Mezzanine 49-51 East Road London N1 6AH

National Probation 
Service

The Probation Office 1 English Grounds London SE1 2HJ

Community Care for 
the Elderly

4 St Catherines Road Grantham Lincs NG31 6TS

Community 
Development

South Holland District 
Council

Council Offices
Priory Road

Spalding Lincs PE11 2XE

ASBO Officer South Holland District 
Council

Council Offices
Priory Road

Spalding Lincs PE11 2XE

Salvation Army Hall Street Crowland Lincs PE6 0EW

Department for Culture 
Media & Sport

2-4 Cockspur Street London SW1Y 5DH

British Association of 
Social Workers

16 Kent Street Birmingham West Midlands B5 6RD

British Casino 
Association

38 Grosvenor Gardens London SW1W 0EB

The National 
Association of Round 
Tables of GB and 
Ireland

Marchesi House 4 Embassy Drive
Calthorpe Road

Edgbaston Birmingham B15 1TP

Royal British Legion 48 Pall Mall London SW1Y 5JY

Bourne & District Lions 
Club

PO Box 57 Bourne Lincs PE10 9HB

United Lincolnshire 
Hospitals

Johnson Community 
Hospital

Spalding Road Pinchbeck
Spalding

Lincs PE11 3DT

Barnardo's Head Office Tanners Lane Barkingside Ilford Essex IG6 1QG

International Children’s 
Trust

67A Lincoln Road Peterborough Cambs PE1 2SD

Christian Centre for 
Gambling 
Rehabilitation

59 Birkenhead Street London WC1H 8BB

Association of Remote 
Gambling

6th Floor,
52-54 High Holborn

High Holborn House London WC1V 6RL

Operators

William Hill Head Office
Greenside House

50 Station Road Wood Green London N22 7TP

The National Lottery PO Box 251 Watford WD18 9BR

Association of Head 
Teachers

1 Heath Square Boltro Road Haywards Heath West Sussex RH16 1BL

Page 85



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

30

Ladbrokes Betting 
Shops

Imperial House Rayners Lane Middlessex HA2 7JW

Citizens Advice Bureau c/o South Holland 
District Council

Priory Road Spalding Lincs PE11 2XE

Cathedral City Coins 14 Sandra Crescent Washingborough Lincs LN4 1QZ

Hart-Marler Leisure The Flaxmill Flaxmill Lane Pinchbeck Lincs PE11 3YP

Jolly Roger Ltd College View Manby Middlegate Grimoldby Louth LN11 8HE

Lease Automatics 18 High Street Boston Lincs PE21 8SH

Premier Amusements 70 Sunningdale Drive Skegness Lincs PE25 1AU

Universal Logic Ltd 3 The Glebe Upton Gainsborough Lincs DN21 5PD

Eagle Enterprises The Retreat
Harby Lane

Eagle Moor Lincoln LN6 9DS

Instance Assemblies 67 St Andrews Drive Skegness Lincs PE25 1DJ

Spilsby Amusement 
Machines

17 Station Road Halton Holegate Spilsby Lincs PE23 5PB

Wakley Automatics Ltd Unit 3, Alma Park Road Grantham Lincs NG31 9SE

S & D Bookmakers Ltd Head Office 29 Main Street Yaxley Peterborough PE7 3LZ

Sound & Vision 29 Barton Road Haslingfield Cambridge Cambs CB3 7LL

Clover Leisure Ltd Barcham Business Park Barcham Road 
Soham

Ely Cambs CB7 5TU

Peterborough 
Automatics Ltd

20 Godric Square Peterborough Cambs PE2 7JL

Martin's Reel Games Ltd 1 London Lane Great Paxton St Neots Cambs PE19 6RH

Cherry Automatics 12 Pembroke Avenue Waterbeach Cambs CB5 9QP

Shelford Coin Operated 
Machines

7 Watermead Bar Hill Cambridge Cambs CB23 8TJ

Micro Automatics New Bridge House Bridge Hill Road Peterborough Cambs PE6 7SA

Leisurelink 3 The Maltings Wetmore Road Burton-Upon- 
Trent

Staffs DE14 1SE

Coral Bookmakers Glebe House Vicarage Drive Barking Essex IG11 7NS

Addaction 67-69 Cowcross Street London EC1M 6PU

Regent Bingo 83 Westlode Street Spalding Lincs PE11 2AE

Harris Amusements 35-42 Lumley Road Skegness Lincs PE25 3NG

Mr Paul Bellringer OBE National Association for 
Gambling Care, 
Educational Resources 
and Training

1 Quarry Road Rusper Road Horsham RH12 5QN

Civic Trust Essex Hall 1-6 Essex Street London WC2R 3HU

Page 86



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

31

Catholic Children's 
Society (East Anglia)

Park Lane Peterborough Cambs PE1 5JW

The Lottery Syndicate 
Club

45 Arundel Crescent Boston Lincs PE21 7QH

Gordon House 
Association

43-47 Maughan Street Dudley DY1 2BA

South Holland 
Community & Mental 
Health Services

Long Sutton Medical 
Centre

Trafalgar Square Long Sutton
Spalding

Lincs PE12 9HB

Responsible Authorities:

Gambling Commission Victoria Square House Victoria Square Birmingham B2 4BP

Lincolnshire Police Licensing (Alcohol) Police Head Quarters PO Box 999 Lincoln LN5 7PH

Lincolnshire Fire and 
Rescue 

Boston Resource 
Centre

Robin Hood's Walk Boston Lincs PE21 9ES

Planning Department South Holland District 
Council

Priory Road Spalding Lincs PE11 2XE

Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding 
Children’s Services

Block B 
Orchard House

Orchard House Lincoln LN1 1BA

HM Revenue and 
Customs

National Registration 
Unit

Portcullis House 21 India Street Glasgow G2 4PZ

Page 87



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

32

Appendix 3
Glossary of Terms Under the 
Gambling Act 2005

Council South Holland District Council

Applications Applications for licences and permits as stated in the Statement of Principles

Notification Notifications of temporary and occasional use notices

Act The Gambling Act 2005

Regulation Regulations made under the Gambling Act 2005

Premises Any place, including a vehicle, vessel or moveable structure

Premises Licence Issued by the Licensing Authority to authorize premises to be used for the 
activities as defined by Section 150 of the Gambling Act

Operator Licence
Issued by the Gambling Commission to organisations and individuals who 
are providing facilities for gambling as defined by Section 65 of the 
Gambling Act

Personal Licence Issued by the Gambling Commission to certain categories of people working 
in the gambling industry as defined by Section 127 of the Gambling Act

Family Entertainment Centre

The Act creates two classes of Family Entertainment Centres – 

Licensed:  which provide category C and D gaming machines and require a 
premises licence.

Unlicensed:  which provide category D gaming machines in reliance on a 
Gaming Machine Permit.

Adult Gaming Centre Premises which provide category B, C and D gaming machines and require 
an operating licence and a premises licence

Gaming machine A machine which is designed or adapted for use by individuals to gamble as 
defined by Section 235 of the Gambling Act

Money prize machine

A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a result of 
using the machine is a money prize as defined in Regulation 3(7) of the 
Categories of Gaming Machine (Amendment) Regulations 2009.  Maximum 
stake 10p and the maximum prize must be no more than £5

Non-money prize machine

A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a result of 
using the machine is a non-money prize as defined in Regulation 3(7) of the 
Categories of Gaming Machine (Amendment) Regulations 2009.  For non-
money prize machines in general, the maximum stake (charge for use) must 
be no more than 30 pence, and the maximum prize value must be no more 
than £8.

Page 88



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

33

Crane grab machine

A crane grab machine is defined as a non-money prize machine in respect 
of which two conditions are satisfied.  The first is that every prize which can 
be won as a result of using the machine consists of an individual physical 
object (such as a stuffed toy).

The second is that whether or not a person using the machine wins a prize is 
determined by the person’s success or failure in manipulating a device 
forming part of the machine so as to separate and keep separate one or more 
physical objects from a group of such objects.  The maximum stake may be 
anything up to and including £1, and the maximum prize value may be 
anything up to and including £50

Coin pusher or penny fall 
machine

These machines are commonly found in seaside arcades and are defined in 
Regulation 2(3) of the Categories of Gaming Machine Regulations 2007 with 
the additional requirement that the machine be neither a money-prize nor a 
non-money prize machine.  The maximum stake may be anything up to and 
including 10 pence, and the maximum prize value may be anything up to 
and including £15.

Categories of gaming machine

A Maximum Stake:  unlimited 
Maximum Prize:  unlimited

B1 Maximum Stake:  £2
Maximum Prize:  £4000

B2 Maximum Stake:  £100 (in multiples of £10)
Maximum Prize:  £500

B3 Maximum Stake:  £2
Maximum Prize:  £500

B4 Maximum Stake:  £1
Maximum Prize:  £250

C Maximum Stake:  £1
Maximum Prize:  £70

D Maximum Stake:  10p or 30p when non- monetary prize 
Maximum Prize:  £5 cash or £8 non-monetary prize

Betting machine remote
A machine designed or adapted for use to bet on future real events as 
defined by Section 235(2) (c) of the Gambling Act

Gambling remote
Gambling in which persons participate by the use of remote communication 
as defined by Section 4 of the Gambling Act

Communication

Communication using - 
The internet 
Telephone 
Television
Radio, or
Any other type of electronic or other technology as defined by 
Section 4(2) of the Gambling Act.

Travelling fair

A fair wholly or principally providing amusements and that has been 
provided wholly or principally by persons who travel from place to place for 
the purpose of providing fairs, and

On a site used for fairs for no more than 27 days per calendar year

As defined by Section 286 of the Gambling Act

Page 89



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

34

Code of Practice
Means any relevant Code of Practice under Section 24 of the Gambling Act 
2005

Responsible Authority

For the purposes of this Act, the following are responsible authorities in 
relation to premises:

i. The Licensing Authority in whose area the premises are wholly or 
mainly situated (South Holland District Council);

ii. The Gambling Commission;

iii. Lincolnshire Police;

iv. Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue;

v. Planning Department, South Holland District Council;

vi. Public Protection Manager, South Holland District Council

vii. Lincolnshire Safe Guarding Children’s Board, Lincolnshire County 
Council;

viii. HM Revenue and Customs.

ix. Any other person/body prescribed by Regulations.

Interested party

For the purposes of this Act, a person is an interested party in relation to a 
premises licence if, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority which issues the 
licence or to which the application is made, the person:-

i. Lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by 
the authorised activities;

ii. Has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 
activities;

iii. c) Represents persons who satisfy i) or ii) above.

Vulnerable persons

Whilst there is no statutory definition this authority considers that this group 
includes people who gamble more than they want to;  people who gamble 
beyond their means;  and people who may not be able to make informed or 
balanced decisions about gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or 
drugs.

Disorder
An angry, possibly violent, expression of dissatisfaction by an individual(s) or 
crowd of people.  Linked with the crime and disorder licensing objective.

Nuisance
An activity or event which causes annoyance or disturbance to an affected 
individual(s).

Self barring
A scheme to enable individuals to request exclusion from premises licensed 
for gambling activities.

Page 90



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

35

Appendix 4
Map of South Holland District

Page 91



36

South Holland District Council
Council Offices 

Priory Road 
Spalding 

Lincolnshire 
PE11 2XE

tel 01775 761161 
fax 01775 711054

email: licensing@sholland.gov.uk 
www.sholland.gov.uk

Page 92

mailto:licensing@sholland.gov.uk
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


ASSOCIATION OF BRITISH 
BOOKMAKERS

Ground Floor, Warwick House 25 Buckingham Palace 
Road

London SW1W 0PP

BACTA 134 Buckingham Palace Road London SW1W 9SA
BRITISH BEER & PUB 
ASSOCIATION

Brewers' Hall Aldermanbury Square London EC2V 7HR

BRITISH HOSPITALITY 
ASSOCIATION

Queens House 55-56 Lincoln's Inn Fields London WC2A 3BH

BRITISH INSTITUTE OF INN 
KEEPING

Infor House 1 Lakeside Road Farnborough GU14 6XP

CITIZENS ADVICE BUREAU - 
HOLBEACH

Holbeach Youth Centre Boston Road South Holbeach PE12 7LR

CITIZENS ADVICE BUREAU - 
LONG SUTTON

The Market House Market Street Long Sutton PE12 9BN

CITIZENS ADVICE BUREAU - 
SPALDING

Council Offices Priory Road Spalding PE11 2XE

CITIZENS ADVICE BUREAU - 
SUTTON BRIDGE

The Curlew Centre Memorial Park, Bridge 
Road

Sutton Bridge PE12 9SA

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION South Holland District Council Priory Road Spalding PE11 2XE
ESSEX LEISURE Essex House 21 Eastways Witham CM8 3YQ
FEDERATION OF LICENSED 
VICTUALLERS ASSOCIATIONS

The Raylor Centre James Street York YO10 3DW

FOOD AND HEALTH & SAFETY 
TEAM

Council Offices Priory Road Spalding PE11 2XE

GAMBLERS ANONYMOUS North Oval Northampton NN5 7LN
GAMBLING COMMISSION Victoria Square House Victoria Square Birmingham B2 4BP
GAMCARE Head Office, 2nd Floor 7-11 St John's Hill London SW11 1TR
HM REVENUE AND CUSTOMS National Registration Unit Portcullis House, 21 India 

Street
Glasgow G2 4PZ

LINCOLNSHIRE CHAMBER OF 
COMMERCE

Commerce House Outer Circle Road Lincoln LN2 4HY

LINCOLNSHIRE FIRE AND 
RESCUE

Grantham Fire Station Harlaxton Road Grantham NG31 7JG

LINCOLNSHIRE POLICE 
HEADQUARTERS

Licensing Po Box 999 Lincoln LN5 7PH

LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 
CHILDREN BOARD

Block B, Orchard House Orchard Street Lincoln LN1 1BA

MAC AUTOMATICS LTD 38 Station Road Kennett CB8 7QD
PLANNING DEPARTMENT Council Offices Priory Road Spalding PE11 2XE
PUBLIC HEALTH DIRECTORATE Lincolnshire County Council Room 12, 15-17 The 

Avenue
Lincoln LN1 1PD

P
age 93



RACECOURSE ASSOCIATION 
LTD

Winkfield Road Ascot SL5 7HX

RESPONSIBLE GAMBLING TRUST 235 Piccadilly London W1J 0DW
THE BINGO ASSOCIATION Lexham House 75 High Street North Dunstable LU6 1JF
TRADING STANDARDS - 
SAFEGUARDING COMMUNITIES

Lincolnshire County Council Myle Cross Centre, 
Macaulay Drive

Lincoln LN2 4EL

GALA BINGO New Castle House Castle Boulevard Nottingham NG7 1FT
WILLIAM HILL Greenside House 50 Station Road, Wood 

Green
London N22 7TP

LADBROKES BETTING SHOPS Imperial House Rayners Lane Middlesex HA2 7JW
CATHEDRAL CITY COINS 14 Sandra Crescent Washingborough Lincoln LN4 1QZ
HART-MARLER LEISURE The Flaxmill Flaxmill Lane Pinchbeck PE11 3YP
JOLLY ROGER LTD College View Manby Middlegate Grimoldby LN11 8HE
LEASE AUTOMATICS 18 High Street Boston PE21 8SH
PREMIER AMUSEMENTS 70 Sunningdale Drive Skegness PE25 1AU
UNIVERSAL LOGIC LTD 3 The Glebe Upton Gainsborough DN21 5PD
EAGLE ENTERPRISES The Retreat, Harby Lane Eagle Moor Lincoln LN6 9DS
INSTANCE ASSEMBLIES 67 St Andrews Drive Skegness PE25 1DJ
SPILSBY AMUSEMENT 
MACHINES

17 Station Road Halton Holegate Spilsby PE23 5PB

WAKLEY AUTOMATICS LTD Unit 3 Alma Park Road Grantham NG31 9SE
S&D BOOKMAKERS LTD 29 Main Street Yaxley Peterborough PE7 3LZ
SOUND & VISION 29 Barton Road Haslingfield Cambridge CB3 7LL
CLOVER LEISURE LTD Barcham Business Park Barcham Road Soham CB7 5TU
PETERBOROUGH AUTOMATICS 
LTD

20 Godric Square Peterborough PE2 7JL

MARTIN’S REEL GAMES LTD 1 London lane Great Paxton St Neots PE19 6RH
CHERRY AUTOMATICS 12 Pembroke Avenue Waterbeach Cambridge CB5 9QP
SHELFORD COIN OPERATED 
MACHINES

7 Watermead Bar Hill Cambridge CB23 8TJ

MICRO AUTOMATICS New Bridge House Bridge Hill Road Peterborough PE6 7SA
LEISURELINK 3 The Maltings Wetmore Road Burton Upon Trent DE14 1SE
CORAL BOOKMAKERS Glebe House Vicarage Drive Barking IG11 7NS
ADDACTION 67-69 Cowcross Street London EC1M 6PU
REGENT BINGO 83 Westlode Street Spalding PE11 2AE
HARRIS AMUSEMENTS 35-42 Lumley Road Skegness PE25 3NG

P
age 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes
	4. Licensing Protocol
	6. Revised Statement of Principles (Gambling Act 2005)
	Appendix 1 - Current Statement of Principles
	Appendix 2 - Draft Revised Statement of Principles
	Appendix 3 - List of Consultees
	Appendix 4 - Responses Received


